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PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED JANUARY 29, 2025 

 
 

NEW ISSUE - BOOK ENTRY ONLY RATINGS:   

Insured: S&P “AA” (stable outlook) 

Underlying: Moody’s “A3” 

 (See “RATINGS” herein.) 

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing law, interest on the Series 2025 Warrants (i) will be excludable from gross 

income for federal income tax purposes if the City complies with all requirements of the Internal Revenue Code that must be satisfied 

subsequent to the issuance of the Series 2025 Warrants in order that interest thereon be and remain excludable from gross income, and 

(ii) will not be an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax.  Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that, 

under existing law, interest on the Series 2025 Warrants will be exempt from State of Alabama income taxation.  See “TAX MATTERS 

RELATING TO THE WARRANTS”, herein for further information and certain other tax consequences arising with respect to the 

Warrants. 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 

1,625,000*  
General Obligation Warrants,      

Series 2025 

Dated:  Date of Delivery             Due:  March 1, as shown on the inside cover page 

The Warrants are issuable as fully registered warrants and, when issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as 

nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, to which principal and interest payments on the Series 2025 

Warrants will be made so long as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the Series 2025 Warrants.  Individual purchases of the Series 

2025 Warrants will be made in Book-Entry Only form, and individual purchasers (“Beneficial Owners”) of the Series 2025 Warrants will 

not receive physical delivery of bond certificates. 

Interest will be payable on the Series 2025 Warrants each March 1 and September 1, beginning September 1, 2025.   Payment 

of debt service on Series 2025 Warrants not in Book-Entry Only form shall be made by check or draft or, at the request of the holder of 

the Warrants in an aggregate principal amount of not less than $100,000 accompanied by adequate written instructions, by wire transfer, 

provided that payment of principal of Series 2025 Warrants shall be made only upon surrender of such Series 2025 Warrants at the office 

of the Paying Agent, Regions Bank, an Alabama banking corporation.  So long as DTC or its nominee is the registered owner of the 

Series 2025 Warrants, disbursement of such payments to DTC is the responsibility of the Paying Agent, disbursement of such payments 

to DTC Participants is the responsibility of DTC and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owner is the responsibility of DTC 

Participants or Indirect Participants as more fully described herein. 

The Series 2025 Warrants will constitute general obligations of the City for the payment of which its full faith and 

credit are irrevocably pledged. For a description of certain risk factors and other considerations involved in an investment in the 

Series 2025 Warrants, including certain limitations on the levy of ad valorem taxes within the City, see “RISK FACTORS and 

“AD VALOREM TAXATION” herein. 

The Warrants will be subject to redemption prior to their respective maturities as described herein. 

The scheduled payment of principal of and interest on the Series 2025 Warrants when due will be guaranteed under a municipal 
bond insurance policy to be issued concurrently with the delivery of the Series 2025 Warrants by ASSURED GUARANTY INC. 

 
_______________ 

FOR MATURITIES, AMOUNTS, RATES, YIELDS, AND CUSIP NUMBERS, SEE INSIDE COVER. 

_______________ 

The Warrants are offered when, as and if issued, subject to approval of validity by Bond Counsel, Maynard Nexsen, PC, 

Birmingham, Alabama.  It is expected that the Warrants in definitive form will be available for delivery through the facilities of The 

Depository Trust Company in New York, New York on or about ________________. 

This cover page contains certain information for quick reference only.  It is not a summary of this issue.  Investors must read 

the entire Official Statement to obtain information essential to the making of an informed investment decision. 

 

 

The date of this Official Statement is ______________________. 
  

__________________________ 
*Preliminary; subject to change 

  



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Assured Guaranty Inc. (“AG”) makes no representation regarding the Series 2025 Warrants or the advisability of investing 

in the Series 2025 Warrants. In addition, AG has not independently verified, makes no representation regarding, and does 

not accept any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of this Official Statement or any information or disclosure 

contained herein, or omitted herefrom, other than with respect to the accuracy of the information regarding AG supplied by 

AG and presented under the heading “BOND INSURANCE” and “Appendix E - Specimen Municipal Bond Insurance 

Policy”. 

 



 

  

 

 

 

 

_______________ 

$1,625,000* 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 

General Obligation Warrants, Series 2025 

MATURITIES, AMOUNTS, RATES, YIELDS, AND CUSIP(1) NUMBERS 

Maturity 

Principal 

Amount 

Interest 

Rate 

  

Yield CUSIP(1) 

 

Maturity 

Principal 

Amount 

Interest 

Rate 

  

Yield CUSIP(1) 

2025 -     2035 115,000    

2026 -     2036 115,000    

2027 -     2037 120,000    

2028 -     2038 125,000    

2029 -     2039 135,000    

2030 $5,000     2040 140,000    

2031 5,000     2041 145,000    

2032 35,000     2042 150,000    

2033 105,000     2043 155,000    

2034 110,000     2044 165,000    
 

$_______ ____% Term Bonds maturing on March 1, 20____ (Yield: _____%), CUSIP No.______ (1) 

_______________ 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 

(1) CUSIP is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association.  CUSIP data contained herein is provided by 

Standard & Poor’s, CUSIP Service Bureau, a division of the McGraw Hill Companies, Inc.  This data is not intended to create a 

database and does not serve in any way as a substitute for the CUSIP Services.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

REGARDING 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 

$1,625,000*  
General Obligation Warrants,  

Series 2025 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

General 

 

This Official Statement is furnished in connection with the issuance of the Series 2025 Warrants referred to 

above (the “Warrants” or the “Series 2025 Warrants”) by the City of Bridgeport (the “City”). 

 

The City is a municipal corporation organized under the laws of the State of Alabama.  The Series 2025 

Warrants will be issued pursuant to an ordinance (the “Warrant Ordinance”) adopted by the governing body of the 

City. 

The Series 2025 Warrants will constitute general obligations of the City for the payment of which its full 

faith and credit are irrevocably pledged. 

The Series 2025 Warrants are being issued for the purpose of (i) financing certain capital improvements to 

the facilities of the City and (ii) paying the costs of issuing the Series 2025 Warrants.  See “THE PLAN OF 

FINANCING”. 

The Series 2025 Warrants are subject to optional and mandatory redemption at the times and under the 

circumstances set forth herein.  See “DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2025 WARRANTS - Redemption of the 

Series 2025 Warrants Prior to Maturity”.  The Series 2025 Warrants are being offered in the denomination of $5,000 

or any multiple thereof and may be transferred and exchanged subject to certain terms and conditions set forth 

herein.  See “DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2025 WARRANTS”. 

The scheduled payment of principal of and interest on the Series 2025 Warrants when due will be 

guaranteed under a municipal bond insurance policy to be issued concurrently with the delivery of the Series 2025 

Warrants by Assured Guaranty Inc. (the “Insurer” or “AG”).  See “BOND INSURANCE”. 

The City has covenanted to undertake certain continuing disclosure pursuant to Rule 15c2-12 of the 

Securities and Exchange Commission.  See “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE”. 

This Official Statement speaks only as of its date, and the information contained herein is subject to 

change.  For further information during the initial offering period with respect to the Series 2025 Warrants, contact 

Raymond James & Associates, Inc., 2900 Highway 280, Suite 100, Birmingham, Alabama 35223, telephone number 

(205) 802-4274. 

Changes to the Preliminary Official Statement 

This Preliminary Official Statement and the information herein is subject to change, completion, and 

amendment.  A definitive Official Statement will be made available prior to the delivery of the Series 2025 

Warrants. 

 

                                                           

* Preliminary; subject to change. 
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For purposes of this Preliminary Official Statement, selling compensation, delivery dates, and certain other 

information dependent on pricing of the Series 2025 Warrant have been omitted.  Further, for purposes of this 

Preliminary Official Statement, offering prices, interest rates, aggregate principal amount, principal amount per 

maturity, and certain other information dependent on pricing of the Series 2025 Warrants have been estimated.  

Actual information dependent on pricing will be established after pricing of the Series 2025 Warrants and will be 

reflected in the final Official Statement.  Such actual information will vary from the estimates. 

 

Investors should check under the heading “INTRODUCTION – Changes to the Preliminary Official 

Statement” in the final Official Statement for guidance regarding information dependent on pricing of the Series 

2025 Warrants and for guidance regarding other information that is changed between the date of this Preliminary 

Official Statement and the date of the final Official Statement.   

 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS USED IN OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

Certain capitalized terms used frequently in this Official Statement are defined in this section of the 

Official Statement. 

“City” means the City of Bridgeport, a municipal corporation organized under the laws of the State of 

Alabama. 

“Federal Securities” means direct obligations of, or obligations the payment of which is guaranteed by, the 

United States of America. 

“Improvements” means the municipal capital improvements being financed with proceeds of the Series 

2025 Warrants, as more specifically identified in the “PLAN OF FINANCING”. 

“Insurer” or “AG” means Assured Guaranty Inc. 

“Internal Revenue Code” means whichever of the following shall be applicable in the context:  the 

Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, and the transition 

rules of related legislation. 

“Paying Agent” means Regions Bank, an Alabama banking corporation, which is the paying agent and 

registrar for the Warrants. 

“Policy” means the municipal bond insurance policy issued by the Insurer insuring the payment when due 

of the principal of and interest on the Series 2025 Warrants. 

“Series 2025 Warrants” or “Warrants” means the City’s General Obligation Warrants, Series 2025, 

which are being offered by this Official Statement. 

“Warrant Ordinance” means the ordinance adopted by the governing body of the City authorizing the 

issuance of the Series 2025 Warrants. 
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DESCRIPTION OF THE WARRANTS 

General Provisions 

The Warrants will be fully registered warrants in the denomination of $5,000 or any multiple thereof, will 

be dated their initial date of delivery, and will be numbered separately from 1 upward. 

The Warrants will mature annually on March 1 in the amounts and years set forth on the inside cover page 

hereof.  The Warrants will bear interest at the applicable per annum rates set forth on the inside cover page hereof.  

All Warrants with the same maturity will bear interest at the same rate.  Interest shall be computed on the basis of a 

360-day year with 12 months of 30 days each.  Interest on the Warrants will be payable on each March 1 and 

September 1, beginning September 1, 2025. 

Method and Place of Payment 

The Warrants will be issued in book-entry only form, as described below under “Book-Entry Only 

System”, and the method and place of payment will be as provided in the book-entry only system.  The provisions 

set forth in this section below will apply in the event that the use of the Book-Entry Only System for the Warrants is 

discontinued. 

Payment of interest due on each interest payment date will be made by check or draft mailed on such 

interest payment date to the persons who were registered holders of the Warrants on the regular record date for such 

interest payment date, which will be the 15th day of the month preceding such interest payment date.  Payment of 

the principal of (and premium, if any, on) the Warrants and payment of accrued interest due upon redemption on any 

date other than an interest payment date will be made only upon surrender of the Warrants at the principal office of 

the Paying Agent (Regions Bank). 

The holder of Warrants in an aggregate principal amount of $100,000 or more may, upon the terms and 

conditions of the Warrant Ordinance, request payment of debt service by wire transfer to an account of such holder 

maintained at a bank in the continental United States or by any other method providing for payment in same-day 

funds that is acceptable to the Paying Agent. 

Redemption of Warrants Prior to Maturity 

Optional Redemption of the Series 2025 Warrants.  The Series 2025 Warrants maturing on March 1, 

20___ or thereafter, or any smaller principal amount of such Series 2025 Warrants that is a multiple of the smallest 

authorized denomination, may be redeemed at the option of the City on March 1, 20___, or any date thereafter at a 

redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof to be redeemed plus accrued interest thereon to the 

redemption date. 

Mandatory Redemption of Term Warrants.   

The Series 2024 Warrants maturing on March 1, 20___ (the “20___ Term Warrants”) are subject to 

mandatory redemption, by lot, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount to be redeemed plus 

accrued interest thereon to the redemption date, on June 1 in years and principal amounts (after credit as provided 

below) as follows: 

Year Amount 

  

20__  

20__  

20__  

20__  

20__  

    

$____ of the 20__ Term Warrants  

will be retired at maturity 
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Not less than 45 or more than 60 days prior to each such scheduled mandatory redemption date with respect to 20__ 

Term Warrants, the Paying Agent shall proceed to select for redemption, by lot, 20__ Term Warrants or portions 

thereof in an aggregate principal amount equal to the amount required to be redeemed and shall call such 20__ Term 

Warrants or portions thereof for redemption on such scheduled mandatory redemption date.  The City may, not less 

than 60 days prior to any such mandatory redemption date, direct that any or all of the following amounts be 

credited against the 20__ Term Warrants scheduled for redemption on such date: (i) the principal amount of 20__ 

Term Warrants delivered by the City to the Paying Agent for cancellation and not previously claimed as a credit; (ii) 

the principal amount of 20__ Term Warrants previously redeemed (other than 20__ Term Warrants redeemed 

pursuant to this paragraph) and not previously claimed as a credit; and (iii) the principal amount of 20__ Term 

Warrants otherwise deemed paid in full and not previously claimed as a credit. 

Other Matters Related to Redemption Prior to Maturity 

[Except in the case of mandatory redemption of Term Warrants,] if less than all Warrants Outstanding are 

to be redeemed, the particular Warrants to be redeemed may be specified by the City by written notice to the Paying 

Agent, or, in the absence of timely receipt by the Paying Agent of such notice, shall be selected by the Paying Agent 

by lot or by such other method as the Paying Agent shall deem fair and appropriate; provided, however, that (i) the 

principal amount of Warrants of each maturity to be redeemed must be a multiple of the smallest authorized 

denomination of Warrants, and (ii) if less than all Warrants with the same stated maturity are to be redeemed, the 

Warrants of such maturity to be redeemed shall be selected by lot by the Paying Agent. 

Any redemption will be made upon at least 30 days’ notice by first-class mail to the holders of Warrants to 

be redeemed. 

If a trust is established for payment of less than all Warrants of a particular maturity, the Warrants of such 

maturity to be paid from the trust shall be selected by the Paying Agent within 7 days after such trust is established 

and shall be identified by a separate CUSIP number or other designation satisfactory to the Paying Agent.  The 

Paying Agent shall notify holders whose Warrants (or portions thereof) have been selected for payment from such 

trust and shall direct such holders to surrender their Warrants to the Paying Agent in exchange for Warrants with the 

appropriate designation. 

Upon any partial redemption of a Warrant, such Warrant shall be surrendered to the Paying Agent in 

exchange for one or more new Warrants in authorized form for the unredeemed portion of principal. 

Any Warrant (or portion thereof) which is to be redeemed must be surrendered to the Paying Agent for 

payment of the redemption price.  Warrants (or portions thereof) duly called for redemption will cease to bear 

interest after the redemption date, unless the City defaults in payment of the redemption price. 

Registration and Exchange 

The Warrants will be issued in book-entry only form, as described below under “Book-Entry Only 

System”, and the method for registration and exchange of the Warrants will be as provided in the book-entry only 

system.  The provisions set forth in this section below will apply in the event that the use of the Book-Entry Only 

System for the Warrants is discontinued. 

The Warrants are transferable only on the warrant register maintained at the principal office of the Paying 

Agent.  Upon surrender of a Warrant to be transferred, properly endorsed, a new Warrant will be issued to the 

designated transferee. 

The Warrants will be issued in denominations of $5,000 or any multiple thereof and, subject to the 

provisions of the Warrant Ordinance, may be exchanged for a like aggregate principal amount of Warrants, of any 

authorized denominations and of the same maturity, as requested by the holder surrendering the same. 

No service charge shall be made for any transfer or exchange, but the City may require payment of a sum 

sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge payable in connection therewith. 
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Book-Entry Only System 

The Warrants will be issued in book-entry only form, as described more particularly in Appendix B to this 

Official Statement. 

Authority for Issuance 

The Warrants are being issued by the City under the authority of the constitution and laws of the State of 

Alabama, including particularly Section 11-47-2 of the Code of Alabama 1975.  

Section 11-47-2 of the Code of Alabama (1975) any municipality in the State of Alabama to issue, without 

an election, evidences of indebtedness, in the form of interest-bearing warrants, notes or bills payable, maturing not 

later than 30 years from the date of issue.  The issuing municipality may borrow such money for any lawful purpose.  

The issuing municipality may agree to pledge to the payment thereof any tax, license or revenues that such 

municipality may then be authorized to pledge to the payment of bonded or other indebtedness. 

SECURITY AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT 

General 

The Warrants will be general obligations of the City, for the payment of which the full faith and credit of 

the City will be irrevocably pledged.  Revenues available to the City for payment of debt service on the Warrants 

include ad valorem taxes, sales and business license taxes and other general fund revenues.  None of such legally 

available revenues are, however, specially pledged for payment of debt service on the Warrants.  Information 

describing certain taxes and other revenues of the City is set forth in the Official Statement under the caption 

“FINANCIAL SYSTEM–Description of Major Sources of General Fund Revenues”. 

Provisions for Payment 

The Warrants shall, prior to the maturity or redemption date thereof, be deemed to have been paid if there 

shall have been deposited with the Paying Agent cash and/or Federal Securities which (assuming due and punctual 

payment of the principal of and interest on such Federal Securities) will provide money sufficient to pay when due 

the debt service due and to become due on such Warrants on and prior to the redemption date or maturity date 

thereof, as the case may be.  At such time as the Warrants shall be deemed paid as aforesaid, they shall no longer be 

secured by or entitled to the benefits of the Warrant Ordinance, except for the purpose of any payment from such 

cash and/or Federal Securities deposited with the Paying Agent and the purpose of transfer and exchange as 

provided in the Warrant Ordinance. 

Remedies 

The City Clerk of the City is, under existing law, subject to mandamus in the event that she has money 

available for payment of debt service on the Warrants and does not apply such money as and to the extent provided 

in the Warrant Ordinance.  Rights of the holders of the Warrants and the enforceability thereof may also be subject 

to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights and the 

exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases, including the law-imposed requirement that the City may first 

use its taxes and other revenues to pay the expenses of providing necessary governmental services before paying 

debt service on the Warrants. 

United States Bankruptcy Code 

The United States Bankruptcy Code permits political subdivisions and public agencies or instrumentalities 

of a state, including the City, that are insolvent or unable to meet their debts as they come due to file petitions for 

relief in the federal bankruptcy courts if it is specifically authorized to do so by state law and can satisfy certain 

statutory requirements related to pre-filing negotiations with its creditors.  While the matter is not entirely free from 

doubt, prospective purchasers of the Warrants should assume that existing Alabama statutes presently authorize the 

City and other political subdivisions in Alabama to file such petitions for relief. 
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Bankruptcy proceedings by the City could have adverse effects on holders of the Warrants, including (i) 

delay in the enforcement of their remedies, (ii) subordination of their claims to the claims of those supplying goods 

and services to the City after the initiation of bankruptcy proceedings and to the administrative expenses of 

bankruptcy proceedings or to other claims of creditors of the City, (iii) subordination of liens, (iv) avoidance of liens 

or preferential transfers, and (v) imposition without their consent of a plan for adjustment of the City’s debts 

reducing or delaying payment on the Warrants.  Such a plan of adjustment, when confirmed by the bankruptcy court, 

binds all creditors who had timely notice or actual knowledge of the petition or plan, even if they vote against the 

plan, and discharges all claims against the political subdivision debtor unless excepted from discharge by the plan or 

the order confirming the plan.  Among other conditions for confirmation, the plan must either be accepted by each 

class of claims or interest that is impaired under the plan, or be accepted by at least one impaired class if the plan is 

otherwise confirmable, does not discriminate unfairly, and is fair and equitable.  An impaired class accepts a plan 

only if it has been accepted by at least 2/3 in amount and more than 50% in number of the allowed claims of such 

class that vote to accept or reject the plan.  The effect of these and other provisions of the Bankruptcy Code cannot 

be predicted with any certainty and may be significantly affected by judicial interpretation. 

BOND INSURANCE 

Bond Insurance Policy 

 Concurrently with the issuance of the Series 2025 Warrants, Assured Guaranty Inc. (“AG”) will issue its 

Municipal Bond Insurance Policy (the “Policy”) for the Series 2025 Warrants. The Policy guarantees the scheduled 

payment of principal of and interest on the Series 2025 Warrants when due as set forth in the form of the Policy 

included as an appendix to this Official Statement. 

The Policy is not covered by any insurance security or guaranty fund established under New York, 

Maryland, California, Connecticut or Florida insurance law. 

Assured Guaranty Inc. 

AG is a Maryland domiciled financial guaranty insurance company and an indirect subsidiary of Assured 

Guaranty Ltd. (“AGL” and together with its subsidiaries, “Assured Guaranty”), a Bermuda-based holding company 

whose shares are publicly traded and are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “AGO.” AGL, 

through its subsidiaries, provides credit enhancement products to the U.S. and non-U.S. public finance (including 

infrastructure) and structured finance markets and participates in the asset management business through ownership 

interests in Sound Point Capital Management, LP and certain of its investment management affiliates. Only AG is 

obligated to pay claims under the insurance policies AG has issued, and not AGL or any of its shareholders or other 

affiliates. 

AG’s financial strength is rated “AA” (stable outlook) by S&P Global Ratings, a business unit of Standard 

& Poor’s Financial Services LLC (“S&P”), “AA+” (stable outlook) by Kroll Bond Rating Agency, Inc. (“KBRA”) 

and “A1” (stable outlook) by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”). Each rating of AG should be evaluated 

independently. An explanation of the significance of the above ratings may be obtained from the applicable rating 

agency. The above ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold any security, and such ratings are subject to 

revision or withdrawal at any time by the rating agencies, including withdrawal initiated at the request of AG in its 

sole discretion. In addition, the rating agencies may at any time change AG’s long-term rating outlooks or place 

such ratings on a watch list for possible downgrade in the near term. Any downward revision or withdrawal of any 

of the above ratings, the assignment of a negative outlook to such ratings or the placement of such ratings on a 

negative watch list may have an adverse effect on the market price of any security guaranteed by AG. AG only 

guarantees scheduled principal and scheduled interest payments payable by the issuer of warrants insured by AG on 

the date(s) when such amounts were initially scheduled to become due and payable (subject to and in accordance 

with the terms of the relevant insurance policy), and does not guarantee the market price or liquidity of the securities 

it insures, nor does it guarantee that the ratings on such securities will not be revised or withdrawn. 



 

 7 

Merger of Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. Into Assured Guaranty Inc. 

On August 1, 2024, Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp., a New York domiciled financial guaranty insurance 

company and an affiliate of AG (“AGM”), merged with and into AG, with AG as the surviving company (such 

transaction, the “Merger”). Upon the Merger, all liabilities of AGM, including insurance policies issued or assumed 

by AGM, became obligations of AG. 

Current Financial Strength Ratings 

 On October 18, 2024, KBRA announced it had affirmed AG’s insurance financial strength rating of “AA+” 

(stable outlook).  

On July 10, 2024, Moody’s, following Assured Guaranty’s announcement of the Merger, announced that it 

had affirmed AG’s insurance financial strength rating of “A1” (stable outlook). 

On May 28, 2024, S&P announced it had affirmed AG’s financial strength rating of “AA” (stable outlook). 

On August 1, 2024, S&P stated that following the Merger, there is no change in AG’s financial strength rating of 

“AA” (stable outlook). 

AG can give no assurance as to any further ratings action that S&P, Moody’s and/or KBRA may take. For 

more information regarding AG’s financial strength ratings and the risks relating thereto, see AGL’s Annual Report 

on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023. 

Capitalization of AG 

At September 30, 2024: 

 The policyholders’ surplus of AG was approximately $3,644 million.  

 The contingency reserve of AG was approximately $1,374 million.  

 The net unearned premium reserves and net deferred ceding commission income of AG and its 

subsidiaries (as described below) were approximately $2,438 million. Such amount includes (i) 

100% of the net unearned premium reserve and net deferred ceding commission income of AG, 

and (ii) the net unearned premium reserves and net deferred ceding commissions of AG’s wholly 

owned subsidiary Assured Guaranty UK Limited (“AGUK”), and its 99.9999% owned subsidiary 

Assured Guaranty (Europe) SA (“AGE”). 

The policyholders’ surplus, contingency reserve, and net unearned premium reserves and net deferred ceding 

commission income of AG were determined in accordance with statutory accounting principles. The net unearned 

premium reserves and net deferred ceding commissions of AGUK and AGE were determined in accordance with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference 

Portions of the following documents filed by AGL with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the 

“SEC”) that relate to AG are incorporated by reference into this Official Statement and shall be deemed to be a part 

hereof: 

(i) the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 (filed by AGL with 

the SEC on February 28, 2024);  

(ii) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2024 (filed by AGL 

with the SEC on May 8, 2024); 

(iii) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2024 (filed by AGL 

with the SEC on August 8, 2024); and 
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(iv) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2024 (filed by 

AGL with the SEC on November 12, 2024).  

All information relating to AG included in, or as exhibits to, documents filed by AGL with the SEC 

pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, excluding Current Reports 

or portions thereof “furnished” under Item 2.02 or Item 7.01 of Form 8-K, after the filing of the last document 

referred to above and before the termination of the offering of the Series 2025 Warrants shall be deemed 

incorporated by reference into this Official Statement and to be a part hereof from the respective dates of filing such 

documents. Copies of materials incorporated by reference are available over the internet at the SEC’s website at 

http://www.sec.gov, at AGL’s website at http://www.assuredguaranty.com, or will be provided upon request to 

Assured Guaranty Inc.: 1633 Broadway, New York, New York 10019, Attention: Communications Department 

(telephone (212) 974-0100). Except for the information referred to above, no information available on or through 

AGL’s website shall be deemed to be part of or incorporated in this Official Statement. 

Any information regarding AG included herein under the caption “BOND INSURANCE – Assured 

Guaranty Inc.” or included in a document incorporated by reference herein (collectively, the “AG Information”) 

shall be modified or superseded to the extent that any subsequently included AG Information (either directly or 

through incorporation by reference) modifies or supersedes such previously included AG Information. Any AG 

Information so modified or superseded shall not constitute a part of this Official Statement, except as so modified or 

superseded. 

Miscellaneous Matters 

AG makes no representation regarding the Series 2025 Warrants or the advisability of investing in the 

Series 2025 Warrants. In addition, AG has not independently verified, makes no representation regarding, and does 

not accept any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of this Official Statement or any information or 

disclosure contained herein, or omitted herefrom, other than with respect to the accuracy of the information 

regarding AG supplied by AG and presented under the heading “BOND INSURANCE”.  

THE PLAN OF FINANCING 

The Series 2025 Warrants are being issued for the purpose of (i) financing or reimbursing the cost to the 

City of acquiring and constructing certain capital expenditures to the public facilities of the City described below 

(collectively, the “Improvements”) and (ii) paying the costs of issuing the Series 2025 Warrants.  The City, however, 

has reserved the right under the Warrant Ordinance to use the proceeds of the Series 2025 Warrants for other legally 

permissible purposes. 

Description of Improvements 

The Series 2025 Warrants are being issued for the purpose of financing the cost of the Improvements, 

which are expected to include: road improvements, public park improvements, splash pad construction and 

campground improvements.  

http://www.sec.gov/
http://www.assuredguaranty.com/
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CONSENT RIGHTS OF THE INSURER 

As long as the Insurer is not then in default on the Policy, the Insurer shall be deemed to be the sole holder 

of such Series 2025 Warrants insured by it for all purposes of the Warrant Ordinance and under Alabama law, 

including, without limitation, exercising rights and remedies of warrantholders. 

SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS 

The expected sources and uses of funds for the plan of financing for the Series 2025 Warrants are as 

follows: 

 Sources of Funds 

Principal amount of 2025 Warrants ...................................................................................................................  

Plus: net original issue premium .......................................................................................................................  

Total  ............................................................................................................................................................  

 

 Uses of Funds 

Costs of acquiring or reimbursing the Improvements .......................................................................................  

Expenses of issuance (including underwriter’s 

discount, insurance premium, legal, 

accounting and other issuance expenses) ............................................................................................  

 

Total  ............................................................................................................................................................  
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DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS 

The following table contains debt service requirements on the Warrants.  The debt service requirements for 

all the City’s general obligation indebtedness is set forth in a table under “DEBT MANAGEMENT—Debt Service 

Requirements on General Obligation Debt”.   

Series 2025 Warrants 

Fiscal Year 
Ending 

September 30 

  

Principal (1) Interest Total 
    

2025 - $35,539 $35,539 

2026 - 65,275 65,275 

2027 - 65,275 65,275 

2028 - 65,275 65,275 

2029 - 65,275 65,275 

2030 $5,000 65,194 70,194 

2031 5,000 65,031 70,031 

2032 35,000 64,381 99,381 

2033 105,000 62,106 167,106 

2034 110,000 58,613 168,613 

2035 115,000 54,525 169,525 

2036 115,000 49,925 164,925 

2037 120,000 45,225 165,225 

2038 125,000 40,325 165,325 

2039 135,000 34,956 169,956 

2040 140,000 29,113 169,113 

2041 145,000 23,056 168,056 

2042 150,000 16,788 166,788 

2043 155,000 10,306 165,306 

2044 165,000 3,506 168,506 

    

Totals $1,625,000 $919,689 $2,544,689 

_________________________ 

 (1) For purposes of this table the principal amount of bonds to be retired in a fiscal year pursuant to mandatory redemption 

provisions is shown as maturing in that fiscal year. 

 
 (2) For purposes of this Preliminary Official Statement, principal and interest requirements have been estimated based on an 

assumed principal amount and principal maturities as shown and certain assumed interest rates.  Actual principal amounts and maturities and 
actual interest rates will be established after pricing of the Series 2025 Warrants and will be reflected in the final Official Statement.  Actual debt 

service payments will vary from this estimate. 
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LITIGATION 

There is no litigation pending or, to the knowledge of the City, threatened questioning the validity of the 

Warrants, the proceedings under which they are to be issued, the security for the Warrants provided by the Warrant 

Ordinance, the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Warrant Ordinance, the organization of the 

City, or the election or qualification of the City’s officers.  

The City is presently not a party to any lawsuits.  

Recent court decisions have substantially eroded the immunity from tort liability formerly enjoyed by local 

governmental units in Alabama; however, Chapter 93 of Title 11 of the Code of Alabama 1975 now prescribes 

certain limits on the liability of local governmental units for bodily injury or death and for damage or loss of 

property.  The limits are presently $100,000 in the case of bodily injury or death of one person in any single 

occurrence, $300,000 in the aggregate where more than two persons have claims or judgments on account of bodily 

injury or death arising out of any single occurrence, and $100,000 for damage or loss of property arising out of any 

single occurrence.  The Alabama Supreme Court has held that the limitations prescribed by Chapter 93 are 

constitutional.  

Local governmental units throughout the country increasingly have been subjected to lawsuits - many of 

which claim damages in large amounts - for alleged denials of civil rights under the provisions of Section 1983 of 

Title 42 of the United States Code.  While the question is not free from doubt, it should be assumed that existing 

Alabama statutory limitations on liability for personal injury would not serve to limit liability under Section 1983. 

RISK FACTORS 

General 

An investment in the Warrants involves certain risks which should be carefully considered by investors.  

The sufficiency of revenues to pay debt service on the Warrants may be affected by events and conditions relating 

to, among other things, population and employment trends and economic conditions in the City, the nature and 

extent of which are not presently determinable. 

Holders of the Warrants should be aware that their rights and the enforceability thereof may be subject to 

bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights and the 

exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases, including the law-imposed requirement that the City may first 

use its taxes and other revenues to pay the expenses of providing necessary governmental services before paying 

debt service on the Warrants. 

Tax-Exempt Status of Series 2025 Warrants  

It is expected that the Series 2025 Warrants will qualify as tax-exempt obligations for federal income tax 

purposes as of the date of issuance.  See “TAX MATTERS RELATING TO THE SERIES 2025 WARRANTS”.  It 

is anticipated that Bond Counsel will render opinions substantially in the form attached hereto as Appendix D, 

which should be read in its entirety for a complete understanding of the scope of the opinions and the conclusions 

expressed therein.  A legal opinion expresses the professional judgment of the attorney rendering the opinion as to 

the legal issues explicitly addressed therein.  By rendering a legal opinion, the opinion giver does not become an 

insurer or guarantor of that expression of professional judgment, of the transaction opined upon, or of the future 

performance of parties to the transaction.  Nor does the rendering of an opinion guarantee the outcome of any legal 

dispute that may arise out of the transaction. 

The tax status of the Series 2025 Warrants could be affected by post-issuance events.  There are various 

requirements of the Internal Revenue Code that must be observed or satisfied after the issuance of the Series 2025 

Warrants in order for the Series 2025 Warrants to qualify for, and retain, tax-exempt status.  These requirements 

include appropriate use of the proceeds of the Series 2025 Warrants, use of the facilities financed by the Series 2025 
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Warrants, investment of warrant proceeds, and the rebate of so-called excess arbitrage earnings.  Compliance with 

these requirements is the responsibility of the City. 

The Internal Revenue Service conducts an audit program to examine compliance with the requirements 

regarding tax-exempt status.  Under current IRS procedures, in the initial stages of an audit with respect to the Series 

2025 Warrants, the City would be treated as the taxpayer, and the owners of the Series 2025 Warrants may have 

limited rights to participate in the audit process.  The initiation of an audit with respect to the Warrants could 

adversely affect the market value and liquidity of the Series 2025 Warrants, even though no final determination 

about the tax-exempt status has been made.  If an audit results in a final determination that the Series 2025 Warrants 

do not qualify as tax-exempt obligations, such a determination could be retroactive in effect to the date of issuance 

of the Series 2025 Warrants. 

In addition to post-issuance compliance, a change in law after the date of issuance of the Series 2025 

Warrants could affect the tax-exempt status of the Series 2025 Warrants or the effect of investing in the Series 2025 

Warrants.  For example, the United States Congress could eliminate the exemption for interest on the Series 2025 

Warrants, or it could reduce or eliminate the federal income tax, or it could adopt a so-called flat tax. 

The Warrant Ordinance does not provide for the payment of any additional interest or penalty if a 

determination is made that the Series 2025 Warrants do not comply with the existing requirements of the Internal 

Revenue Code or if a subsequent change in law adversely affects the tax-exempt status of the Series 2025 Warrants 

or the effect of investing in the Series 2025 Warrants. 

Legislative Changes Affecting Tax Status of the Series 2025 Warrants 

During recent years, legislative proposals have been introduced in Congress, and in some cases enacted, to 

alter certain federal tax consequences resulting from the ownership of obligations that are similar to the Series 2025 

Warrants.  In some cases, these proposals have contained provisions that altered these consequences on a retroactive 

basis.  Such alteration of federal tax consequences may have affected the market value of obligations similar to the 

Series 2025 Warrants.  From time to time, legislative proposals are pending which could have an effect on both the 

federal tax consequences resulting from ownership of the Series 2025 Warrants and their market value.  No 

assurance can be given that legislative proposals will not be enacted that would apply to, or have an adverse effect 

upon, the Series 2025 Warrants.  For example, in connection with federal deficit reduction, job creation and tax law 

reform efforts, proposals have been and others are likely to be made that could significantly reduce the benefit of, or 

otherwise affect, the exclusion from gross income of interest on obligations like the Series 2025 Warrants.  There 

can be no assurance that any such legislation or proposal will be enacted, and if enacted, what form it may take.  The 

introduction or enactment of any such legislative proposals may affect, perhaps significantly, the market price for, or 

marketability of, the Series 2025 Warrants.  Prospective purchasers of the Series 2025 Warrants should consult their 

own tax advisors as to the tax consequences of owning the Series 2025 Warrants in their particular state or local 

jurisdiction and regarding any pending or proposed federal or state tax legislation, regulations or litigation, as to 

which Bond Counsel expresses no opinion. 

Bankruptcy 

Holders of the Warrants should be aware that their rights and the enforceability thereof may be subject to 

bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights and the 

exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases. See, “SECURITY AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT – United 

States Bankruptcy Code”. 

Limitation on Levy of Ad Valorem Taxes 

The levy and collection of ad valorem taxes in Alabama are subject to the provisions of the Alabama 

Constitution, which places certain restrictions on ad valorem taxation. Such limitations are described more 

particularly in “AD VALOREM TAXATION” herein.  
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Cybersecurity 

Despite the implementation of network security measures by the City, its information technology systems 

may be vulnerable to breaches, hacker and ransomware attacks, computer viruses, physical or electronic break-ins 

and other similar events or issues. State and local governments have recently been subject to such attacks.   

The foregoing events or issues could lead to the inadvertent disclosure of confidential information, 

ransomware attacks holding critical information and operations hostage or could have an adverse effect on the City’s 

ability to provide municipal services or to collect taxes and fees.  Any breach or cyberattack that compromises data 

could result in negative press and substantial fines or penalties for violation of state privacy laws. Despite efforts of 

the City, no assurances can be given that the City’s measures will prevent cybersecurity attacks, and no assurances 

can be given that any cybersecurity attacks, if successful, will not have a material adverse effect on the operations or 

financial condition of the City.  

Qualification of Legal Opinions 

The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with delivery of the Series 2025 Warrants (1) will 

be qualified as to enforceability of the various legal instruments by limitations imposed by bankruptcy, 

reorganization, insolvency, or other similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally and by equitable remedies 

and proceedings generally and (2) will express the professional judgment of the attorneys rendering the opinions as 

to the legal issues explicitly addressed therein.  By rendering a legal opinion, the opinion giver does not become an 

insurer or guarantor of that expression of professional judgment, of the transaction opined upon, or the future 

performance of parties to the transaction, and the rendering of an opinion does not guarantee the outcome of any 

legal dispute that may arise out of the transaction. 

Secondary Market 

If and when a Warrantholder elects to sell a Series 2025 Warrant prior to its maturity, there is no assurance 

that a market shall have been established, maintained and be in existence for the sale of such Series 2025 Warrant 

subsequent to its issuance.  

COVID-19 and Public Health Epidemics or Outbreaks 

 The outbreak of COVID-19, a respiratory disease caused by a novel strain of coronavirus, has been 

declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization. Since its discovery in late 2019, it has spread globally, 

including throughout the United States. In the United States, there has been a focus on containing COVID-19 by 

prohibiting non-essential travel and limiting person-to-person contact. Throughout 2020 and 2021, states and local 

governments issued “stay at home” and “shelter in place” orders, which limited businesses and activities to essential 

functions.     

 

 The extent to which the coronavirus or other public health epidemics or outbreaks impact the City’s 

operations and its financial condition will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be 

predicted with confidence, including the duration of the outbreak, the extent of future outbreaks, and the actions to 

contain the outbreaks. Such public health epidemics or outbreaks in the United States could have a material adverse 

effect on the City’s operations and its financial condition, including a negative impact on the revenues available to 

the City to pay debt service on the Series 2025 Warrants.   
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LEGAL MATTERS 

The legality and validity of the Warrants will be approved by Bond Counsel, Maynard Nexsen, PC, 

Birmingham, Alabama.  Bond Counsel has been employed primarily for the purpose of preparing certain legal 

documents and supporting certificates, reviewing the transcript of proceedings by which the Warrants have been 

authorized to be issued, and rendering an opinion in conventional form as to the validity and legality of the 

Warrants, the exemption of interest on the Warrants from State of Alabama income taxes, and the exemption of 

interest on the Warrants from federal income taxes.  Bond Counsel also served as Disclosure Counsel and assisted in 

the preparation of this Official Statement. 

It is anticipated that Bond Counsel will render opinions substantially in the form attached hereto as 

Appendix D.  In connection with the rendering of such opinion, Bond Counsel is serving as counsel to the City.   

The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Warrants express the 

professional judgment of the attorneys rendering the opinions as to the legal issues explicitly addressed therein.  By 

rendering a legal opinion, the opinion giver does not become an insurer or guarantor of that expression of 

professional judgment, of the transaction opined upon, or of the future performance of parties to the transaction.  

Nor does the rendering of an opinion guarantee the outcome of any legal dispute that may arise out of the 

transaction.  

TAX MATTERS RELATING TO THE WARRANTS 

General 

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing law, interest on the Series 2025 Warrants will be excludable 

from gross income for federal income tax purposes if the City complies with all requirements of the Internal 

Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Internal Revenue Code”), that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance 

of the Series 2025 Warrants in order that interest thereon be and remain excludable from gross income.  Failure to 

comply with certain of such requirements could cause the interest on the Series 2025 Warrants to be included in 

gross income, retroactive to the date of issuance of the Series 2025 Warrants.  The City has covenanted to comply 

with all such requirements. 

Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that, under existing law, interest on the Series 2025 Warrants will not 

be an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax.  However, interest on the Series 

2025 Warrants may be taken into account for purposes of the alternative minimum tax imposed on applicable 

corporations pursuant to Section 55(b)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code, as amended by the Inflation Reduction Act 

of 2022.   

Bond Counsel will express no opinion regarding federal tax consequences arising with regard to the Series 

2025 Warrants other than the opinions expressed in the two preceding paragraphs.  The form of Bond Counsel’s 

opinion is expected to be substantially as set forth in Appendix D to this Official Statement. 

Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that, under existing law, interest on the Series 2025 Warrants will be 

exempt from State of Alabama income taxation. 

Original Issue Discount 

[In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing law, the original issue discount in the selling price of a 

Series 2025 Warrant, to the extent properly allocable to each owner of such Series 2025 Warrant, is excludable from 

gross income for federal income tax purposes with respect to such owner.  The original issue discount is the excess 

of the stated redemption price at maturity of such Series 2025 Warrant over the initial offering price to the public, 

excluding underwriters and other intermediaries, at which price a substantial amount of the Series 2025 Warrants of 

such maturity were sold. 
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Under Section 1288 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, original issue discount on tax-

exempt bonds accrues on a compound basis.  The amount of original issue discount that accrues to an owner of a 

Series 2025 Warrant during any accrual period generally equals (i) the issue price of such Series 2025 Warrant plus 

the amount of original issue discount accrued in all prior accrual periods, multiplied by (ii) the yield to maturity of 

such Series 2025 Warrant (determined on the basis of compounding at the close of each accrual period and properly 

adjusted for the length of the accrual period), less (iii) any interest payable on such Series 2025 Warrant during such 

accrual period.  The amount of original issue discount so accrued in a particular accrual period will be considered to 

be received ratably on each day of the accrual period, will be excludable from gross income for federal income tax 

purposes, and will increase the owner’s tax basis in such Series 2025 Warrant.  Any gain realized by an owner from 

a sale, exchange, payment or redemption of a Series 2025 Warrant will be treated as gain from the sale or exchange 

of such Series 2025 Warrant.] 

Premium 

[An amount equal to the excess of the purchase price of a Series 2025 Warrant over its stated redemption 

price at maturity constitutes premium on such Series 2025 Warrant.  A purchaser of a Series 2025 Warrant must 

amortize any premium over such Series 2025 Warrant’s term using constant yield principles, based on the 

purchaser’s yield to maturity.  As premium is amortized, the purchaser’s basis in such Series 2025 Warrant is 

reduced by a corresponding amount, resulting in an increase in the gain (or decrease in the loss) to be recognized for 

federal income tax purposes upon a sale or disposition of such Series 2025 Warrant prior to its maturity.  Even 

though the purchaser’s basis is reduced, no federal income tax deduction is allowed.  Purchasers of any Series 2025 

Warrants at a premium, whether at the time of initial issuance or subsequent thereto, should consult with their own 

tax advisors with respect to the determination and treatment of premium for federal income tax purposes and with 

respect to state and local tax consequences of owning such Series 2025 Warrants.] 

Collateral Tax Consequences 

Except as expressly stated above, Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any other federal or state 

tax consequences of acquiring, carrying, owning, or disposing of the Series 2025 Warrants.  Prospective purchasers 

of the Series 2025 Warrants should consult their tax advisors regarding the applicability of any collateral tax 

consequences of owning the Series 2025 Warrants, which may include original issue discount, original issue 

premium, purchase at a market discount or at a premium, taxation upon sale, redemption or other disposition, and 

various withholding requirements. 

BANK QUALIFICATION 

The City will designate the Series 2025 Warrants as “qualified tax-exempt obligations” under Section 

265(b) of the Internal Revenue Code.  

UNDERWRITING 

Raymond James & Associates, Inc., Birmingham, Alabama (the “Underwriter”), has purchased the Series 

2025 Warrants at a price of $_______________ (consisting of the $____________ par amount of the Series 2025 

Warrants less underwriter’s discount of $______________ and _____ original issue _____________ of 

$__________). 

The initial public offering price for the Series 2025 Warrants may be changed by the Underwriter.  The 

Underwriter may offer and sell the Series 2025 Warrants to certain dealers (including dealers depositing Series 2025 

Warrants in investment trust) and other at prices lower than the public offering price set forth on the cover page of 

this Official Statement. 

. 
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 

General 

The City has covenanted for the benefit of the holders of the Warrants to provide the Municipal Securities 

Rulemaking Board’s Electronic Municipal Market Access System (“EMMA”) with (i) certain financial information 

and operating data relating to the City on an annual basis (the “Annual Financial Information”) within 270 days after 

the end of its fiscal year and (ii) notices (“Material Event Notices”) of the occurrence of the following events in a 

timely manner not in excess of 10 business days after the occurrence of the event: 

1. A delinquency in payment of principal of or interest on the Warrants. 

2. Non-payment related defaults under the proceedings of the City authorizing the Warrants, 

whether or not such defaults constitute an event of default thereunder, if material. 

3. Unscheduled draws on any debt service reserve fund reflecting financial difficulties of 

the City. 

4. Unscheduled draws on any credit enhancement or liquidity facility with respect to the 

Warrants reflecting financial difficulties of the City. 

5. Substitution of a credit enhancer for the one originally described in the Official Statement 

(if any), or the failure of any credit enhancer respecting the Warrants to perform its obligations under the 

agreement between the City and such credit enhancer. 

6. The existence of any adverse tax opinion with respect to the Warrants, the issuance by the 

Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS 

Form 5701 TEB) or other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Warrants, 

or other material events affecting the tax status of the Warrants.   

7. Any modification of the rights of the registered owners of the Warrants, if material. 

8. Redemption of any of the Warrants prior to the stated maturity or mandatory redemption 

date thereof, if material, and tender offers with respect to the Warrants. 

9. Defeasance of the lien of any of the Warrants or the occurrence of circumstances which, 

pursuant to such authorizing proceedings, would cause the Warrants, or any of them, to be no longer 

regarded as outstanding thereunder. 

10. The release, substitution or sale of the property securing repayment of the Warrants, if 

material. 

11. Any changes in published ratings affecting the Warrants. 

12. Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the City. 

13. The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the City or the 

sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the City, other than in the ordinary course of business, the 

entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement 

relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material. 

14. Appointment of a successor or additional paying agent or the change of name of a paying 

agent, if material.  

15. Incurrence of a financial obligation of the City, if material, or agreement to covenants, 

events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a financial obligation of the City, any 

of which affect security holders, if material. 
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16. Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other similar 

events under the terms of a financial obligation of the City, any of which reflect financial difficulties. 

In addition, the City has covenanted to provide in a timely manner to EMMA notice of the City’s failure to 

provide the Annual Financial Information on or before the date specified herein.  As used above in paragraphs (15) 

and (16), the term “financial obligation” means a: (1) debt obligation; (2) derivative instrument entered into in 

connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned debt obligation; or (3) 

guarantee of a debt obligation or such a derivative instrument; the term “financial obligation” does not include 

municipal securities as to which a final official statement has been provided to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking 

Board consistent with Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

The Annual Financial Information will include financial information and operating data relating to the City 

of the type found in the section of this Official Statement called “RESULTS OF OPERATIONS - Comparative 

Statement of General Fund Revenues and Expenditures” (provided partial year results shall not be required).  In 

addition, the City will provide to EMMA, when and if available, audited financial statements prepared in accordance 

with accounting principles described in the audited financial statements included in this Official Statement as an 

appendix. 

The City shall never be subject to money damages for its failure to comply with its obligations to provide 

the required information.  The only remedy available to the holders of the Warrants for breach by the City of its 

obligations to provide the required information shall be the remedy of specific performance or mandamus against 

appropriate officials of the City.  The failure by the City to provide the required information shall not be an event of 

default with respect to the Warrants under the Warrant Ordinance.  A failure by the City to comply with its 

obligations to provide the required information must be reported as described above and must be considered by any 

broker, dealer, or municipal securities dealer before recommending the purchase or sale of the Warrants in the 

secondary market.  Consequently, such a failure may adversely affect the transferability and liquidity of the 

Warrants and their market price. 

No person other than the City shall have any liability or responsibility for compliance by the City with its 

obligations to provide information.  The Paying Agent has not undertaken any responsibility with respect to any 

required reports, notices or disclosures. 

The City retains the right to modify its obligations described above as long as such modification is done in 

a manner consistent with Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

Non Compliance with Prior Undertakings 

Pursuant to the requirements of Rule 15c2-12, the City entered into continuing disclosure agreements in 

connection with the issuance of certain of its outstanding indebtedness (the “Continuing Disclosure Agreements”).  

In the fiscal years ending September 30, 2019 through September 30, 2021, the City failed to file certain of its 

Annual Financial Information on or before the due date as required by Rule 15c2-12 and the terms of the Continuing 

Disclosure Agreements, as follows:  

 Failure to timely post the City’s audited financial statements by their due date; and 

 Failure to post the City’s unaudited financial statements with respect to the City’s General 

Obligation Warrant, Series 2010. 

 

The City also did not file a notice in accordance with Rule 15c2-12 with respect to its failure to provide its Annual 

Financial Information for the fiscal years noted above.  

RATINGS 

S&P Global Ratings, a business unit of Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC (“S&P”), is expected to 

assign a rating of “AA” (stable outlook) to the Series 2025 Warrants (as shown on the cover page), with the 

understanding that, upon delivery of the Series 2025 Warrants, a policy insuring the payment when due of the 

principal of and interest on the Series 2025 Warrants will be issued by the Insurer.   
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Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”, and together with S&P, the “Rating Agencies”) has assigned 

an underlying rating to the Series 2025 Warrants as indicated on the cover page.   

Any definitive explanation of the significance of such ratings may be obtained only from the Rating 

Agencies.  The City furnished to the Rating Agencies the information contained in this Official Statement and 

certain other information respecting the City and the Series 2025 Warrants.  Generally, rating agencies base their 

ratings on such materials and information, as well as on their own investigations, studies and assumptions.   

The above ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold the Series 2025 Warrants, and any such 

rating may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by such rating agency.  Any downward revision or 

withdrawal of any or all of such ratings may have an adverse effect on the market price of the affected Series 2025 

Warrants.  Except as may be required in connection with the obligations described under the heading 

“CONTINUING DISCLOSURE”, neither the City nor the Underwriter has undertaken any responsibility either to 

bring to the attention of the warrantholders any proposed revision, suspension or withdrawal of a rating or to oppose 

any such revision, suspension or withdrawal. 

Due to the ongoing uncertainty regarding the economy of the United States of America, including, 

without limitation, matters such as the future political uncertainty regarding the United States debt limit, 

obligations issued by state and  local governments, such as the Series 2025 Warrants, could be subject to a 

rating downgrade. Additionally, if a significant default or other financial crisis should occur in the affairs of the 

United States or any of its agencies, then such event could also adversely affect the ratings and market value of 

outstanding debt obligations, including the Series 2025 Warrants. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

The financial statements of the City included in Appendix B to this Official Statement have been audited by 

the Vance CPA LLC, Madison, Alabama, independent certified public accountants, as stated in their report 

appearing herein as Appendix B to this Official Statement.  Such financial statements speak only as of September 

30, 2024 and have been included as a matter of public record.  Vance CPA LLC (1) has not been engaged to 

perform, and has not performed, any procedures with respect to such financial statements since the date of its report 

on such financial statements and (2) has not performed any procedures relating to this Official Statement.  The 

permission of Vance CPA LLC for the use herein of its report on such financial statements has not been sought. 

DISCLAIMERS AND OTHER MISCELLANEOUS MATTERS 

This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract or agreement between the City and the 

purchasers or holders of any of the Warrants. 

All quotations from and summaries and explanations of provisions of laws and documents herein do not 

purport to be complete, and reference is made to such laws and documents for full and complete statements of their 

provisions. 

The order and placement of material in this Official Statement, including its appendices, are not to be 

deemed a determination of relevance, materiality or importance, and all material in this Official Statement, including 

its appendices, must be considered in its entirety. 

The information in this Official Statement has been obtained from sources which are considered 

dependable and which are customarily relied upon in the preparation of similar official statements, but such 

information is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness. 

All estimates and assumptions contained herein are believed to be reliable, but no representation is made 

that such estimates or assumptions are correct or will be realized. 
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No person, including any broker, dealer or salesman, has been authorized to give any information or to 

make any representation other than those contained in this Official Statement, and if given or made, such other 

information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the City. 

The Warrants will not be registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or any state securities 

laws and will not be listed on any stock or other securities exchange, and neither the Securities and Exchange 

Commission nor any federal, state, municipal or other governmental agency will pass upon the accuracy, 

completeness or adequacy of this Official Statement.  The Warrant Ordinance have not been qualified under the 

Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended. 

Any information or expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and neither the 

delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale hereunder shall under any circumstances create an implication that 

there has been no change as to the affairs of the City since the date hereof. 

Certain statements contained in this Official Statement including, without limitation, statements containing 

the words “estimates,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “expects,” and words of similar import, constitute “forward-

looking” statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.  Such forward-

looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual 

results, performance or achievements of the City to be materially different from any future results, performance or 

achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.  Such factors include, among others, 

population trends and political and economic developments that could adversely impact the collection of revenues.  

Given these uncertainties, prospective investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking 

statements.  The City disclaims any obligation to update any such factors or to publicly announce the results of any 

revision to any of the forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect future events or developments. 

In connection with this offering, the Underwriter may over allot or effect transactions which stabilize or 

maintain the market price of the Warrants offered hereby at a level above that which might otherwise prevail in the 

open market, and such stabilizing, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.  The prices and other terms of 

the offering and sale of the Warrants may be changed from time to time by the Underwriter after the Warrants are 

released for sale, and the Warrants may be offered and sold at prices other than the initial offering prices, including 

sales to dealers, without prior notice. 

The Underwriter has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement:  The 

Underwriter has reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as part of, its 

responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this 

transaction, but the Underwriter does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information. 

This Official Statement is being provided to prospective purchasers either in bound printed format or in 

electronic format.  This Official Statement may be relied upon only if it is in its bound printed format or as printed in 

its entirety in such electronic format. 
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

For further information during the initial offering period with respect to the Warrants, contact Raymond 
James & Associates, Inc., 2900 Highway 280, Suite 100, Birmingham, Alabama 35223, telephone number (205) 
802-4274. 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 

 

200559919.7 
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INFORMATION ON CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 

General 

The City is a municipal corporation organized under the laws of the State of Alabama.  The City is located 

in Jackson County, Alabama, which is northeast of the geographical center of Alabama.  The population of the City 

is 2,262 according to the most recent estimate (2023) by the United States Census Bureau. The City encompasses an 

area of approximately 4.46 square miles. 

Governance and Administration 

The City is governed under the mayor-council form of government.  The Mayor is elected on an at-large 

basis for a 4-year term and five Council members are elected from single-member districts, each for a 4-year term.  

The following persons constitute the Mayor, City Council and City Clerk of the City: 

Mayor and City Council 

David Hughes, Mayor 

Aldonna Crabtree 

Joe Stovall 

Michelle Willis 

Bobby Seabolt 

Barry Hughes  

 

Administrative 

Teresa Wilks, City Clerk 

 

Services, Departments and Agencies 

The City’s current-year budget authorizes the employment of 18 full-time and 21 part-time employees in its 

various departments or agencies, which include the following: 

City Hall: 2 full-time and 2 part-time 

Police Department: 9 full-time and 2 part-time 

Street Department: 7 full-time and 8 part-time 

Depot Museum: 4 part-time 

Senior Center: 1 full-time 

Library: 4 part-time  
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Summary of Governmental Services.  The following table lists the governmental services provided by the 

City, other levels of government or independently appointed or elected agencies. 

Governmental Services Provided 

by the City and Others 

 City County State Independent 

Police protection (1) .......................  Principal Shared Shared 

Fire protection ................................  Exclusive 

Street maintenance 

 and repair (2)(3) .......................  Shared Shared Shared 

Solid waste disposal........................  Shared Shared   

Water service(4) .............................     Exclusive 

Sanitary sewer service(5) ................     Exclusive 

Gas and electric 

 services .....................................     Exclusive 

Courts (6) ........................................  Shared Shared Principal 

Road construction (7) .....................  Shared Shared Principal 

Education (8) ..................................    Exclusive  

Health (9) ........................................   Shared Principal 

Recreation (10) ...............................  Exclusive 

Cable  ..............................................                                                                                   Exclusive 

__________________ 
(1) The City, the County and the State have co-extensive law enforcement jurisdiction. 
(2) The State is responsible for maintaining state and federal highways in the city limits. 

(3) The County is responsible for maintaining County roads in the city limits. 

(4) Water service is provided by Bridgeport Utilities.  
(5) Sanitary sewer service is provided by Bridgeport Utilities.  

(6) The City operates a municipal court, a limited jurisdiction court which is a component of the Unified Judicial System of the State. 

(7) The City builds and maintains streets that are not county, state or federal highways. 
(8) The Jackson County Board of Education, the governing body of which is elected, operates schools with local ad valorem taxes and state 

and federal funds. 

(9) The County and other cities in the County contribute to the County Health Department on a formula basis.  The County operates a 
public, tax-supported hospital. 

(10) The City finances all major public recreation facilities in its jurisdiction. 

 

Employee Relations 

The City considers relations with its employees to be satisfactory.  No employees of the City are represented 

by labor unions or similar employee organizations.  The City does not bargain collectively with any labor union or 

employee organization.   

Personnel and Retirement System 

The City employs 18 full-time and 21 part-time personnel in its several departments at the present time.  The 

benefits and compensation for all employees of the City’s several departments are established by the City Council and 

are paid from the City’s general fund.   

The employees of the City participate in a retirement system established by the Legislature of Alabama 

known as the Employees’ Retirement System of Alabama (the “Retirement System”).  Contributions to the Retirement 

System are made by both the employees and the City.  The respective amounts of such contributions are established 

by the Legislature of Alabama.  As set forth in the audited financial statements of the City included in Appendix B to 

this Official Statement, as of September 30, 2023, the most recent year for which information was available, the City’s 

total pension liability was $1,529,313 and the plan fiduciary net position was $1,628,450, resulting in a net pension 

surplus of $99,137.  The City’s obligations under the Retirement System are described more particularly in the audited 

financial statements of the City included in Appendix B to this Official Statement.  

For the year ended September 30, 2024, the City recognized pension expense of $15,817.     
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Other Post-Employment Benefits 

In June 2004, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 45 (“GASB 45”), which 

is entitled Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Post-Employment Benefits Other Than Pensions.  

This Statement establishes standards for the measurement, recognition and presentation of post-employment benefits 

other than pension benefits (“OPEB”) expenses/expenditures and related liabilities (assets), note disclosures and, if 

applicable, required supplemental information in the financial reports of state and local governmental employers.  

GASB 45 is intended to improve the relevance and usefulness of financial reporting by (a) requiring systematic, 

accrual-basis measurement and recognition of OPEB costs (expense) over a period that approximates employees’ 

years of service and (b) providing information about actuarial accrued liabilities associated with OPEB and whether 

and to what extent progress is being made in funding the plan.   

The City does not offer any post-employment benefits other than pension benefits and therefore has no 

outstanding OPEB liability.  

FINANCIAL SYSTEM 

General 

The City maintains a financial reporting system which provides timely and accurate reports of receipts and 

expenditures.  Internal accounting controls are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance regarding 

(i) the safeguarding of assets against loss from unauthorized use or disposition, and (ii) the reliability of financial 

records for preparing financial statements and maintaining accountability for assets.  Activities of the City are 

monitored internally on a monthly basis and are audited annually, as required by law, by independent certified public 

accountants.  The report of such accountants with respect to certain of the City’s financial statements for the fiscal 

year ended September 30, 2024 is included as Appendix B to this Official Statement. 

Budgetary System 

The City follows the following procedures in establishing a budget: 

1. The Mayor is responsible for preparing the General Fund Operating Budget for the coming fiscal 

year. 

2. The budget is then legally adopted through the passage of an ordinance. 

3. Expenditures within the special revenue funds are approved by the City Council by ordinance.  The 

debt service fund is budgeted within the general fund budget through an operating transfer.  However, a separate 

budget is not prepared for the debt service fund. 

4. The Mayor is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between funds; however, any unbudgeted 

transfers between funds must be approved by the City Council. 

5. The budget is used as a benchmark to evaluate overall results in comparison to projections.  Any 

unusual deviations are reviewed with department supervisors. 

6. The budgeted amounts shown in the financial statements are the final authorized amounts for the 

year. 

Accounting System 

The accounts of the City are organized on the basis of funds and account groups, each of which is considered 

a separate accounting entity.  The operations of each fund are accounted for with a separate set of self-balancing 

accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues and expenditures, or expenses, as appropriate.  

Government resources are allocated to and accounted for in individual funds based upon the purposes for which they 

are to be spent and the means by which spending activities are controlled.  The various funds are grouped, for 
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accounting and reporting purposes, into two broad categories, Governmental Funds and Proprietary Funds.  The notes 

to the financial statements included in Appendix B include a summary of other significant accounting policies of the 

City (See Note 1).  Each of these categories is divided into separate fund types as follows: 

Governmental Funds 

General Fund.  The General Fund is the general operating fund of the City.  It is used to account for all 

financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another proprietary fund. 

Special Revenue Fund.  Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue 

sources that are legally restricted to expenditures for certain purposes.  

Proprietary Funds 

Enterprise Fund. Enterprise funds are used to account for business-like activities provided to the general 

public. The City presently has no Enterprise Funds.  

Description of Major Sources of General Fund Revenues 

The City’s major sources of revenues for its General Fund are as follows: 

Sales and Use Tax.  The City presently levies license, privilege and excise taxes on sales within the City’s 

corporate limits at the general rate of 4%, the net proceeds of which are deposited in the General Fund. The proceeds 

of this tax constitute a major portion of the revenues of the General Fund.  According to the financial records of the 

City, the sales tax revenues collected by the City for the below listed fiscal years are as follows: 

 Fiscal Year   Sales and Use Tax Revenues 

 2024 $1,090,717 

 2023 1,290,106 

 2022 1,228,169 

 2021 1,149,206 

 2020 1,039,788 

    

Under applicable judicial precedents, neither the general sales and use tax nor any business license tax may be levied 

at rates that are confiscatory or unreasonable, nor may the rate of any such taxes in the police jurisdiction of a 

municipality be fixed at a rate that will yield an amount in excess of the cost of furnishing police and fire protection 

and other essential services to the activity or person being taxed. 

Ad Valorem Taxes.  Property or ad valorem taxes are levied under various provisions of the constitution and 

statutes of Alabama and may be used only for the purpose or purposes for which they are levied.  The City levies a 

10.0-mill tax for general municipal purposes, proceeds of which are deposited in the General Fund.  Under present 

law, the rates at which local ad valorem taxes are levied may be increased only after approval by the legislature and a 

majority vote of the qualified electors of the affected jurisdiction.  See “AD VALOREM TAXATION”.  According 

to the financial records of the City, the ad valorem tax revenues collected by the City for the below listed fiscal years 

are as follows: 

 Fiscal Year      Ad Valorem Tax Revenues 

 2024 $303,275 

 2023 262,970 

 2022 232,743 

 2021 235,418 

 2020 256,748 
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TVA Payments in Lieu of Taxation.  Pursuant to Chapter 28 of Title 40 of the Code of Alabama 1975 the 

State of Alabama is required to annually transfer to the counties in Alabama served by the Tennessee Valley Authority, 

a portion of the in-lieu-of-taxes payments made by T.V.A. to the State of Alabama.  Any county receiving a share of 

said payments that has within its boundaries a municipality or part thereof that is served in whole or in part shall share 

in the county’s payments with said municipality receiving the same amount as the ratio of T.V.A. served population 

of the entire county.  The payments made by T.V.A. are subject to annual federal appropriation and there is no 

guarantee that the City will receive future tax equivalent payments from T.V.A.; however, the receipts of T.V.A. tax 

equivalent payments by the City have been as follows for the prior fiscal years indicated ending September 30:  

 Fiscal Year        City’s Share of TVA Payments 

 2024 $156,217 

 2023 139,166 

 2022 97,290 

 2021 143,209 

 2020 129,215 

   

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

This section of the Official Statement presents certain historical financial information concerning the City.  

The information in this section under the subheading “Comparative Statement of General Fund Revenues and 

Expenditures” (excluding the partial year results) will be updated annually and such annual report will be filed with 

appropriate information repositories in accordance with the requirements of Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and 

Exchange Commission.  See “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE”. 

Comparative Statement of General Fund Revenues and Expenditures.   

The table below sets forth audited revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance for the City’s General 

Fund for the five fiscal years ended September 30, 2020 through 2024.  The audited financial statements for fiscal 

year ended September 30, 2024 are included in Appendix B to this Official Statement.  Audited financial statements 

for prior fiscal years may be obtained from the City Clerk of the City upon request.   
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Comparative Statement of General Fund 

Revenues and Expenditures and 

Changes in Fund Balance 

 
 Fiscal Year (Ended 9/30) 

 

2020 

 

2021 2022 2023 2024  

REVENUES       

  Taxes $1,573,414 $1,766,228 $1,776,083 $1,917,198 $2,141,408  

  Licenses and permits 202,650 518,749 603,224 669,498 286,226  

  Intergovernmental 629,482 162,880 146,781 150,700 13,908  

  Charges and fees for services 131,888 126,481 132,102 131,626 143,074  

  Fines and court costs 74,760 105,883 69,192 57,503 23,181  

  Miscellaneous 95,872 40,152 107,649 35,576 36,555  

       

Total revenues 2,708,066 2,720,373 2,835,031 2,962,101 2,644,352  

       

EXPENDITURES       

  General government 1,151,343 1,133,206 1,281,130 1,350,850 1,367,922  

  Public safety 514,377 499,641 597,808 691,185 443,686  

  Highways and streets 929,158 675,730 715,603 490,060 513,827  

  Culture and recreation 70,794 78,877 68,275 74,353 21,763  

  Capital outlay 1,120,259 182,413 455,319 176,051 64,790  

  Debt service:       

    Principal 15,309 85,004 81,166 91,837 97,232  

    Interest and fiscal agent fees 1,926 5,512 6,314 11,765 11,644  

       

Total expenditures 3,803,166 2,660,383 3,205,615 2,886,101 2,520,864  

       

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues (1,095,100) 59,990 (370,584) 76,000 123,488  

       

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 

(USES)       

  Debt proceeds 128,925 36,780 275,561 28,017 -  

  Operating transfers in - - - - -  

  Operating transfers out (107,870) (99,604) (110,577) (97,976) (99,841)  

  Sale of surplus property 130,000 - - - -  

       

Total Other Financing Sources and 

Uses 151,055 (62,824) 164,984 (69,959) (99,841)  

       

Net change in fund balances (944,045) (2,834) (205,600) 6,041 23,647  

       

Fund Balances, October 1 1,874,087 930,042 927,208 721,608 1,070,035*  

       

Fund Balances, September 30 $930,042 $927,208 $721,608 $727,649 $1,093,682  

 

    

*As restated.
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Major Sources of General Fund Revenues 

The following table sets forth principal sources of General Fund revenues for fiscal years ended September 

30, 2023 and 2024 and the percentage of total General Fund revenues represented by each such source:  

Principal General Fund Revenue Sources 

 FY Ending 9/30/23 FY Ending 9/30/24 

 (audited) (audited) 

 Amount % of Total Amount % of Total 
     

Taxes $1,917,198 70.80% $2,141,408 80.98% 

Licenses and Permits 669,498 24.72 286,226 10.82 

Intergovernmental 150,700 5.56 13,908 0.53 

Charges for Services 131,626 4.86 143,074 5.41 

Fines and Court Costs 57,503 2.12 23,181 0.88 

Miscellaneous Revenues 35,576 1.31 36,555 1.38 

For a description of the major sources of General Fund revenues, see “FINANCIAL SYSTEM - Description of Major 

Sources of General Fund Revenues”. 

DEBT MANAGEMENT 

General 

The principal forms of indebtedness that the City is authorized to incur include general obligation bonds and 

warrants, general obligation bond anticipation notes, revenue anticipation notes, gasoline tax anticipation bonds, and 

various revenue anticipation bonds and warrants relating to enterprises.  In addition, the City has the power to enter 

into certain leases which constitute a charge upon the general credit of the City and to guarantee obligations of certain 

public corporations affiliated with the City. 

In general, the issuance of general obligation bonds requires voter approval.  The following types of 

obligations may be issued or incurred without voter approval:  (1) general obligation warrants; (2) general obligation 

refunding bonds; (3) certain revenue anticipation bonds, warrants and notes; (4) general and special obligation bonds 

financing street, sidewalk and sewer improvements supported, in whole or in part, by assessments; and (5) capitalized 

lease obligations that are funded on a “year-to-year basis”. 

The City has never defaulted in the payment of debt service on its bonds, warrants or other funded 

indebtedness, nor has the City ever refunded any funded indebtedness for the purpose of preventing or avoiding such 

a default. 
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Outstanding Indebtedness 

Long-Term, General Obligation Indebtedness.  Following the issuance of the Series 2025 Warrants, the 

City will have the following long-term, general obligation indebtedness outstanding:  

Description of Indebtedness Source of Payment Principal Balance 
   

General Obligation Warrants, Series 2025 general obligation $1,625,000* 

   

General Obligation Warrants, Series 2014 general obligation 375,000 

   

General Obligation Warrants, Series 2010 general obligation 280,000 

   

2020 Bank Loan general obligation 13,987 

   

2021 Bank Loan – Land Purchase general obligation 66,358 

   

2022 Bank Loan – Equipment Purchases general obligation 56,551 

   

2023 Bank Loan – Truck general obligation 13,011 

   

TOTAL  $2,429,907* 

  
* Preliminary; subject to change.   

NOTE: Balances as of September 30, 2024. 

 

Constitutional Debt Limit 

Constitutional Debt Limit-General.  The City’s present constitutional debt limit is based on two provisions 

of the Constitution of Alabama of 2022, namely, Section 225 of the Constitution of Alabama of 2022 and Section 

94.01 of the Constitution of Alabama of 2022 (also known as Amendment 772 to the Alabama Constitution of 1901).  

Obligations chargeable against debt limit for purposes of Section 225 of the Constitution of Alabama of 2022 are not 

chargeable against debt limit for purposes of Section 94.01 of the Constitution of Alabama of 2022, and obligations 

chargeable against debt limit for purposes of Section 94.01 of the Constitution of Alabama of 2022 are not chargeable 

against debt limit for purposes of Section 225 of the Constitution of Alabama of 2022. 
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Constitutional Debt Limit-Section 225.   Under Section 225 of the Constitution of Alabama of 2022, the 

City’s present constitutional debt limit is an amount equal to 20% of the assessed value of the taxable property located 

within its corporate limits; however, in addition to obligations issued pursuant to Amendment No. 772, the following 

are not chargeable against the City’s constitutional debt limit:  (1) obligations issued for the purpose of acquiring, 

providing or constructing schools, water works or sewers; (2) obligations incurred for street or sidewalk improvements 

where the costs thereof, in whole or in part, are to be assessed against the property abutting such improvements; (3) 

tax anticipation notes not exceeding one-fourth of general revenues; (4) revenue securities payable solely from the 

revenues of water, sewer, gas or electric systems; and (5) capitalized lease obligations that are funded on a “year-to-

year basis”.  

The following statement reflects the City’s legal debt margin under Section 225 of the Constitution of 

Alabama of 2022 after the issuance of the Series 2025 Warrants: 

City of Bridgeport 

Statement of Legal Debt Margin 

Assessed value of taxable property (as of 

September 30, 2024)  $42,195,760 

Debt limit (20% of assessed value)  $8,439,152 

Total Indebtedness - Section 225:   

 Long-term indebtedness(1) $2,429,907  

 Less:  Exempt indebtedness ($0)   

Total indebtedness chargeable against debt limit  ($2,429,907) 

Legal debt margin – Section 225  $6,009,245 

_____________________________ 

(1)    Includes the indebtedness described more particularly under “Outstanding Indebtedness–Long-Term, General Obligation 

Indebtedness”, including the Warrants.  Does not include normal accounts payable or accrued but unpaid interest on outstanding indebtedness.   
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Constitutional Debt Limit—Section 94.01.  Under Section 94.01 of the Constitution of Alabama of 2022, 

the City may become indebted and issue bonds, warrants which may be payable from funds to be realized in future 

years, notes, or other obligations, or evidences of indebtedness to a principal amount not exceeding 50% of the 

assessed value of the taxable property located within its corporate limits in order to secure funds for any of the 

economic and industrial development powers or authorities granted in such amendment; however, under existing law, 

obligations chargeable against the debt limit under Section 94.01 of the Constitution of Alabama of 2022 are not 

chargeable against the City’s constitutional debt limit under Section 225 of the Constitution of Alabama of 2022.  

The following statement reflects the City’s legal debt margin under Section 94.01 of the Constitution of 

Alabama of 2022 after the issuance of the Series 2025 Warrants: 

City of Bridgeport 

Statement of Legal Debt Margin 

Assessed value of taxable property (as of 

September 30, 2024)  $42,195,760 

Debt limit (50% of assessed value)  $21,097,880 

Total Indebtedness – Section 94.01  ($0) 

Legal debt margin – Section 94.01  $21,097,880 
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Debt Service Requirements on General Obligation Debt 

The following table contains the debt service requirements on all long-term, general obligation debt of the 

City that will be outstanding after the issuance of the Series 2025 Warrants:   

City of Bridgeport 

Debt Service Requirements on General Obligation Debt 

Fiscal 
Year 

Ended 9/30 
Series 2025  

Warrants (1)(3) 

Other Outstanding 
General Obligation 
Indebtedness (1)(2) 

Total 
Debt 

Service 

    
2025 $35,539 $97,850  $133,389  

2026 65,275 99,800  165,075  

2027 65,275 96,650  161,925  

2028 65,275 98,400  163,675  

2029 65,275 95,238  160,513  

2030 70,194 97,175  167,369  

2031 70,031 98,938  168,969  

2032 99,381 66,138  165,519  

2033 167,106 -  167,106  

2034 168,613 -  168,613  

2035 169,525 -  169,525  

2036 164,925 -  164,925  

2037 165,225 -  165,225  

2038 165,325 -  165,325  

2039 169,956 -  169,956  

2040 169,113 -  169,113  

2041 168,056 -  168,056  

2042 166,788 -  166,788  

2043 165,306 -  165,306  

2044 168,506 -  168,506  

    

Total $2,544,689 $750,188 $3,294,876 
__________________________________ 

(1)  For purposes of this table the principal amount of warrants to be retired in a fiscal year pursuant to mandatory redemption provisions is 

shown as maturing in that fiscal year. 

(2) Includes all indebtedness described more particularly under “Outstanding Indebtedness–Long-Term, General Obligation Indebtedness”, 

other than the Series 2025-A Warrants, 2020 Bank Loan, 2021 Bank Loan – Land Purchase, 2022 Bank Loan – Equipment Purchases, and 2023 

Bank Loan – Truck.  

(3) For purposes of this Preliminary Official Statement, principal and interest requirements have been estimated based on an assumed 

principal amount and principal maturities as shown and certain assumed interest rates.  Actual principal amounts and maturities and actual interest 
rates will be established after pricing of the Series 2025 Warrants and will be reflected in the final Official Statement.  Actual debt service payments 

will vary from this estimate. 

 



 

A-12 

Debt Ratio 

The following table sets forth certain debt ratios applicable to the City: 

City of Bridgeport 

Debt Ratios 

   

 

Population(1) 2,262 

Assessed Value of Taxable Property(2) $42,195,760 

General Obligation Debt(3) $2,429,907 

General Obligation Debt Per Capita $1,074.23 

Ratio of General Obligation Debt to Assessed Value 5.76% 

_________________________ 

(1) Based on 2022 Census Estimate, U.S. Census Bureau. 
(2) Source:  Jackson County Revenue Commissioner. 
(3) After giving effect to the issuance of the Series 2025 Warrants. 

AD VALOREM TAXATION 

General 

The levy and collection of ad valorem taxes in Alabama are subject to the Alabama Constitution, which, 

among other things, fixes the percentage of market value at which property can be assessed for taxation, limits the tax 

rates that can be levied against property and places a ceiling on the aggregate ad valorem taxes that can be levied by 

all taxing authorities on any property in any tax year.  The amount of an ad valorem tax in Alabama is computed by 

multiplying the applicable tax rate by the assessed value of the taxable property.  The assessed value of taxable 

property is a specified percentage (the “assessment ratio”) of its fair and reasonable market value or, in certain 

circumstances, its current use value.  Ad valorem tax rates are stated in terms of mills per dollar of assessed value.  

Each mill represents a tax equal to one-tenth of one percent of the assessed value of such property. 

Classification of Taxable Property 

Amendment No. 373 to the Alabama Constitution divides all taxable property into the following four classes 

valued for taxation according to the assessment ratios shown below: 

 Class I All property owned by utilities 30% 

 

 Class II All property not otherwise 20% 

  classified 

 

 Class III All agricultural, forest and  

  single-family, owner-occupied 

  residential property and  

  historic buildings and sites 10% 

 

 Class IV Private passenger automobiles and 

  pickup trucks owned and operated by 

  an individual for personal or private 

  use 15% 

Amendment No. 373 permits the owner of Class III property to elect to have such property appraised at its “current 

use value” rather than its “fair and reasonable market value”.  “Current use value” has been defined statutorily as the 
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value of such property based on the use being made of it on October 1 of the preceding year, without taking into 

consideration the prospective value such property might have if it were put to some other possible use. 

Assessment Ratio Adjustment 

The Alabama Legislature has no power to adjust assessment ratios pertaining to local (as distinguished from 

state) taxes but does have the power to approve or disapprove an adjustment proposed by a local taxing authority.  The 

governing body of any county, municipality or other local taxing authority may increase or decrease the assessment 

ratio with respect to any class of property subject to the following conditions: (i) the governing body of such county, 

municipality or other taxing authority must hold a public hearing on the proposed adjustment before authorizing the 

adjustment, (ii) the Legislature must adopt an act approving the adjustment and (iii) a majority of the electors of such 

county, municipality or other taxing authority must approve the adjustment in a special election.  In addition, the 

Legislature has placed the following restrictions on the adjustment of assessment ratios: 

(1) If the total assessed value of all property of a single class located within a taxing authority’s 

jurisdiction exceeds 50% of the total assessed value of all taxable property located within the jurisdiction of such 

authority, then the assessment ratio with respect to that class of property may be decreased by no more than 5% from 

the ratio otherwise prescribed for such class; 

(2) If the total assessed value of all properties of a single class located within the jurisdiction of a local 

taxing authority is less than 20% of the total assessed value of all taxable property located within such jurisdiction, 

then the assessment ratio with respect to that class of property may be increased by no more than 5% from the ratio 

otherwise prescribed for such class; and 

(3) If the total assessed value of all property of a single class located within the jurisdiction of a local 

taxing authority exceeds 75% of the total assessed value of all taxable property located within such jurisdiction, then 

(i) the assessment ratio with respect to that class of property may be decreased by no more than 5% from the ratio 

otherwise prescribed for such class and (ii) the prospective assessment ratio for all other classes of property may be 

increased by no more than 5% from the ratio otherwise prescribed for such classes. 

The governing body of the City has not sought to adjust the assessment ratio applicable to any class of taxable 

property nor does the City have any present plan for any such adjustment. 

Rate Adjustments 

Amendment No. 373 authorizes any county, municipality or other local taxing authority to decrease any ad 

valorem tax rate at any time, provided that such decrease does not jeopardize the payment of any bonded indebtedness 

secured by such tax.  Amendment No. 373 also permits a county, municipality or other local taxing authority to 

increase the rate at which any ad valorem tax is levied, but only if (i) the governing body of such county, municipality 

or other taxing authority holds a public hearing on the proposed increase before authorizing the increase, (ii) the 

Legislature adopts an act approving the increase and (iii) a majority of the electors of such county, municipality or 

other taxing authority subsequently approves the increase in a special election. 

Ceiling on Ad Valorem Taxes 

Amendment No. 373 also limits the total amount of state, county, municipal and other ad valorem taxes that 

may be imposed on any class of property in any one tax year.  This limitation is expressed in terms of a specified 

percentage of the fair and reasonable market value of such property.  The applicable percentages to the four classes of 

property are as follows: 

 Class I - 2% 

 Class II - 1 1/2% 

 Class III - 1% 

 Class IV - 1 1/4% 

If the total amount of tax otherwise payable with respect to a class of property would exceed the maximum tax limit, 

the millage rate of each separate tax to which such property is subject must be reduced in the same proportion that the 
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millage levied by or for the benefit of each taxing authority bears to the total millage levied by or for the benefit of all 

applicable taxing authorities.  This provision becomes operative as to the several classes of property only if the total 

tax rate exceeds the following: 

 Class I - 66 2/3 mills 

 Class II - 75 mills 

 Class III - 100 mills 

 Class IV - 83 1/3 mills 

Ad Valorem Tax Rates 

Ad valorem taxes on property in the jurisdiction of the City are currently levied at the following rates: 

Taxing Authority Mills 

State of Alabama 6.5 

  

Jackson County:  

General Fund 5.0 

Road & Bridge 2.5 

Hospital 4.0 

Fire Protection - All Except Langston, Hytop 2.0 

School - District 1 - County - CA778 10.0 

School - District 2 - County - CA778 10.0 

Jackson County Total: 33.5 

  

City of Bridgeport:  

General    10.0 

  

Total 50.0 

 

Assessed Valuation of Taxable Property 

The following table contains net assessed value of taxable property (including motor vehicles but excluding 

exempt property) in the City for the last five fiscal years: 

  Assessed Value of 

 Fiscal Year Taxable Property  

 2024 $42,195,760 

 2023 37,944,360 

 2022 33,011,820 

 2021 32,514,520 

 2020 29,578,640 
_________________________________ 

Source:  Jackson County Revenue Commissioner. 
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Largest Ad Valorem Taxpayers 

Listed below are the ten largest ad valorem taxpayers in the City and the City’s portion of the ad valorem 

taxes paid by each for the tax year ended September 30, 2024. 

 

Name of Taxpayer 

Total Assessed Value of Property 

in City limits 

City’s Portion of  

Ad Valorem Taxes 

Paid 

Pentz Street Holdings, LLC $2,749,320 $27,493 

Essential Access Healthcare, LLC 826,220 8,262 

CSX Transportation, Inc. 798,320 7,983 

Yamaha Motor Corporation 735,040 7,350 

Tennessee Alloys Corporation 695,040 6,950 

North Alabama Electric Cooperative 636,620 6,366 

Tennessee Alloys Company, LLC 611,280 6,113 

Dover Holdings, LLC 297,620 2,976 

Bridgeport Properties 257,680 2,577 

MadMax, LLC 239,400 2,394 

   
_____________________________________ 

Source:  Jackson County Revenue Commissioner. 

ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION 

General 

The City of Bridgeport is located in northeast Jackson County.  Incorporated since 1890 or 1891, with a 

second incorporation listed in 1907, the City is located approximately 35 miles southwest of Chattanooga, Tennessee 

and 31 miles northeast of Scottsboro, the county seat.  Jackson County covers an area of approximately 1,127 square 

miles. 

The principal agricultural products of the County include soybeans, corn, cotton, wheat, vegetables, fruits, 

livestock, poultry and eggs.  The County produces a large amount of pine pulpwood and hardwood pulpwood.  Major 

manufactured products of the County are diversified and include bath rugs, refrigeration units, store fixtures, 

corrugated paperboard, industrial plastics, hardwood flooring, automotive brake lines, gypsum board, carpet backing 

and automotive interior carpeting.  Major mineral products of Jackson County include celestine, gypsum, halloysite, 

hematite, jasper, niter and quartz. 
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Population 

The following table sets forth population statistics for the City of Bridgeport, Jackson County, the State of 

Alabama and the United States for the years indicated: 

 1990 2000 2010 2020 2023* 

      

City of Bridgeport 2,936 2,728 2,418 2,264 2,262 

Jackson County 47,796 53,926 53,227 52,579 53,467 

State of Alabama 4,040,389 4,447,100 4,779,736 5,024,279 5,108,468 

United States 248,718,302 281,421,906 308,745,538 331,449,281 334,914,895 
     

Source:  U.S. Census Bureau. 
*Estimates 

 

 

Employment 

The following table sets forth estimated nonagricultural wage and salary employment statistics for Jackson 

County as of 2023: 

 Jackson County 

 Nonagricultural Employment by Industry 

 
Number 

Employed % 
   

Manufacturing 4,908 35.8 

Public Administration 2,869 20.9 

Retail Trade 2,543 18.5 

Accommodation and Food Services 1,047 7.6 

Construction 646 4.7 

Wholesale Trade 481 3.5 

Finance and Insurance 265 1.9 

Professional, Scientific, and Technical Services 217 1.6 

Information 206 1.5 

Administrative and Support and Waste Management 177 1.3 

Other Services (except Public Admin.) 177 1.3 

Real Estate and Rental and Leasing 118 0.9 

Management of Companies and Enterprises 38 0.3 

Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation  35 0.3 

   

Total wage and salary employees 13,727 100.0% 

     

Source:   U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. 
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The following table sets forth labor force data, estimates and employment rates for Jackson County for the 

dates indicated: 

  

2019 

 

2020 

 

2021 

 

2022 

 

2023 

October 

2024* 

       

Civilian Labor Force 23,691 23,039 22,972 23,233 23,482 23,925 

Employment 22,862 21,700 22,319 22,666 22,899 23,154 

Unemployment 829 1,339 653 567 583 771 

Unemployment Rate 3.5% 5.8% 2.8% 2.4% 2.5% 3.2% 
_____________________________ 

Source:  U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. 

*Preliminary, subject to change. 

 

The following table sets forth comparative unemployment rates for Jackson County, the State of Alabama 

and the United States for the dates indicated: 

  

2019 

 

2020 

 

2021 

 

2022 

 

2023 

October 

2024* 

       

Jackson County 3.5% 5.8% 2.8% 2.4% 2.5% 3.2% 

State of Alabama 3.2 6.4 3.4 2.5 2.5 3.1 

United States 3.7 8.1 5.3 3.6 3.6 3.9 
_____________________________  

Source:   U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. 

*Preliminary, subject to change. 

Major Employers 

The major governmental and nongovernmental employers in Jackson County (exclusive of the County itself), 

their principal activity and the number of employees of each are as follows: 

Employer Product or Service 

Approximate No. 

of Employees 

   

Highlands Medical Center Medical Services 834 

Maples Industries Bath Rugs 800 

Jackson County Board of Education Public Schools 735 

HTPG Refrigeration Units 550 

Lozier Store Fixtures 444 

WestRock Corrugated Paperboard 416 

Scottsboro Board of Education Public School 320 

Polymer Industries Industrial Plastics 266 

Engineered Floors Hardwood Flooring 250 

Sanoh America Automotive Brake Lines 247 

_________________________ 

Source:  Economic Development Partnership of Alabama; Jackson County Economic Development Authority. 
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Income Levels 

There are two basic methods of measuring annual income:  per capita income, which is the total income of 

all families and individuals in a given area divided by the total population of the area, and median family income 

above and below which there are an equal number of family incomes. 

 

The following tables present comparative information regarding income levels in the City of Bridgeport, 

Jackson County, the State of Alabama and the United States: 

 

Per Capita Income 

 

Year 

City of 

Bridgeport 

Jackson  

County 

State of  

Alabama 

United 

States 

2022* $23,252 $27,695 $33,344 $41,261 

2019 21,799 23,844 28,934 35,384 

2009 19,048 18,905 22,984 27,334 

1999 15,779 16,000 18,189 21,587 

1989 10,202 10,144 11,486 14,420 

        

Source:  1990, 2000, 2010 and 2020 U.S. Census Bureau; 2022 American Community Survey. 

 *Five-year Estimates (2018-2022) 

 

 

Median Family Income 

 

Year 

City of 

Bridgeport 

Jackson  

County 

State of  

Alabama 

United 

States 

2022* $45,000 $59,400 $77,363 $92,646 

2019 44,460 54,489 66,772 80,069 

2009 43,239 45,423 52,863 62,982 

1999 33,712 38,082 41,657 50,046 

1989 24,824 25,772 28,688 35,225 

        

Source:  1990, 2000, 2010 and 2020 U.S. Census Bureau; 2022 American Community Survey. 

 *Five-year Estimates (2018-2022) 

 

General Housing Characteristics 

 

The following table presents general housing characteristics for housing units in the City of Bridgeport: 

 
 2022* 2020 2010 2000 1990 

Total Housing Units 1,272 1,262 1,245 1,290 1,241 

Total Occupied Units 1,098 1,083 976 1,159 1,128 

Total Owner Occupied Units 688 676 792 826 797 

Median Value of Owner Occupied Units $87,600 $64,400 $69,000 $55,700 $35,700 

____________________________ 

Source: 1990, 2000, 2010 and 2020 U.S. Census of Population and Housing; 2022 American Community Survey. 

 *Five-year Estimates (2018-2022) 

 

Data Center 

In April 2018, Google officially broke ground on its $600 million data center in the City.  Now a fully 

operational site, they've created over 100 jobs onsite in a variety of full-time and contractor roles, including computer 

technicians and engineers as well as various food service, maintenance, and security roles. 
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Education 

There are no universities, colleges, or community colleges located within the County. 

Students residing within the City attend Bridgeport Elementary School and Bridgeport Middle School.  The 

City’s schools are governed by the Jackson County Board of Education, whose members are publicly elected.  The 

Jackson County School District consists of 17 schools with an enrollment of approximately 4,914 students.  The City 

of Scottsboro has 5 schools within its system and approximately 2,380 students.  In addition, the County has 4 private 

and parochial schools and approximately 256 students, with grades ranging from pre-kindergarten through high 

school. 

Health Care Services 

The County is the site of Highlands Medical Center (170 licensed beds).  The facility provides services in 

many areas of specialization.  The City is the site of Creekside Hospital (21 licensed beds).  The facility is a behavioral 

health hospital for adults and geriatrics, including patients experiencing issues related to dementia.  There are also 6 

nursing homes and assisted living facilities located in the County, with a combined total of 355 licensed beds. 

Utilities 

Electricity is supplied and distributed to the residents of the City by the North Alabama Electric Cooperative.  

Water, sewer and natural gas services are supplied and distributed by the Bridgeport Utilities Board.  

Telecommunication services are provided by AT&T, the North Alabama Electric Cooperative, T-Mobile, and 

Verizon. 

Recreation 

Recreation opportunities in the City include Bridgeport Community Park.  The park is located along the 

Tennessee River and includes a swimming pool, baby pool, tennis courts, basketball court, two baseball and softball 

parks, a playground, paved walking track, skateboard park, full size stage with power and lights, a gazebo, and picnic 

tables.  The Bridgeport Train Depot Museum houses the offices of the Bridgeport Area Historical Association and 

includes collections of local artifacts, railroad memorabilia, and historical records dating back to 1807 that are 

available for research.  The building is listed on the Alabama Register of Landmarks and Heritage, as are the Doran’s 

Cove Church and Cemetery (c. 1850), the Kilpatrick-Hughes House (c. 1891), and the Whitcher-Denton House (c. 

1891).  The Bridgeport Historic District is listed on the National Register of Historic Places.  Just west of the City is 

Russell Cave National Monument, an important archaeological site that contains one of the most complete records of 

prehistoric culture in the southeastern United States.  The park also includes a 12-mile hiking trail, a museum, and 

ranger-led tours to the cave. The County bisected by Lake Guntersville, offers year-round recreation such 

as camping, fishing, boating, hiking, golfing, spelunking, and birding. The County is also home to the world-

famous Unclaimed Baggage Center, the only store that buys and sells unclaimed luggage from airlines.  You can also 

follow the United States Civil Rights Trail and stop in to visit the Scottsboro Boys Museum. 

Transportation 

The County is served by U.S. Highway 72, and State Highways 35, 40, 65, 71, 73, 79, 117, 146, 277 and 

279.  Railways that intersect the County include CSX Transportation, Norfolk Southern Railway and Sequatchie 

Valley Railroad.  The Tennessee River traverses the County in a southwesterly direction.  An inland port is located in 

the City and is managed by the Alabama State Port Authority.  There are two pubic airports in the County, Scottsboro 

Municipal Airport (Word Field) located in Scottsboro and Stevenson Airport located in Stevenson. Scheduled 

commercial airline service is available in Huntsville and Chattanooga, Tennessee. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 

 

To the Mayor and City Council  

City of Bridgeport, Alabama  

Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the 

aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Bridgeport, Alabama, as of and for the year ended September 

30, 2024, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City of Bridgeport, 

Alabama’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 

financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 

the City of Bridgeport, Alabama, as of September 30, 2024, and the respective changes in financial position and, 

where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America.  

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 

Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the City of Bridgeport, Alabama, 

and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our 

audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

audit opinions.  

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and 

maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, 

considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City of Bridgeport, Alabama’s ability to continue 

as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 

information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that 

an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 

one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 

override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, 

individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 

statements. 

 

 



 

 
In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 

examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 

the City of Bridgeport, Alabama’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 

estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise 

substantial doubt about the City of Bridgeport, Alabama’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 

reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we 

identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the Unites States of America require that the schedule of changes in net 

pension liability and schedule of employers contribution information be presented to supplement the basic financial 

statements.  Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 

Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic 

financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited 

procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 

the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 

information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 

financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not 

express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us 

with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

The City of Bridgeport has not presented the Management Discussion and Analysis or the Budgetary Comparison of 

the General Fund that accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America has determined is 

necessary to supplement, although not required to be a part of, the basic financial statements. 

Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise 

the City of Bridgeport, Alabama’s basic financial statements.  The combining and individual nonmajor fund 

financial statements are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic 

financial statements. 

The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements are the responsibility of management and were 

derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 

statements.  Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic 

financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 

directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic 

financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 

accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial 

statements are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

Madison, Alabama 

November 21, 2024 

                                                                                                                                                 
                                                                                                Vance CPA LLC 



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF NET POSITION      Statement 1 
 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 
 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 
             
       Governmental   
           Activities      
ASSETS 

 Current Assets 
  Cash     $ 1,064,519  
  Accounts receivable      145,739  
  Prepaid expenses      32,798  
 Total current assets      1,243,056  
 
 Noncurrent Assets 
  Land      757,809  
  Capital assets, net      2,698,810  
 Total noncurrent assets      3,456,619 
 
Total Assets      4,699,675  
 
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
  Employer pension contributions     156,008 
 
 Total Deferred Outflows      156,008 
 
LIABILITIES 
 Current liabilities: 
  Accounts payable      32,844  
  Municipal Court Payable      3,327 
  Salaries and benefits payable      7,162 
  Current portion of long-term debt (see note 6)    155,737  
 Total current liabilities      199,070  
 
Noncurrent Liabilities: 
  Bonds and Notes Payable      649,170 
  Compensated Absences      51,425 
  Net pension liability      (99,137)  
 Total noncurrent liabilities      601,458 
 
Total Liabilities     $ 800,528 
 
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
  Pension earnings      221,891  
 
 Total Deferred Inflows      221,891  
 
NET POSITION 
 Net investment in capital assets      2,651,712  
 Restricted for streets      46,154  
 Restricted for public welfare      392,866  
 Restricted for public safety      1,909  
 Restricted for capital improvements     10,470 
 Restricted for debt service      49,417  
 Unrestricted      680,736 
 
Total Net Position     $ 3,833,264  



 

 

 

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES       Statement 2 

 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 

 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 

 
        Program Revenues 

   
    Fees, Fines and  Operating   Capital  Net 
     Charges for   Grants and   Grants and  (Expense)/ 
Activities  Expenses   Services  Contributions  Outlays   Revenue  

 

Governmental: 
 General Government $ 1,425,454 $ 311,551 $ — $ 23,779 $ (1,090,124) 
 Public Safety  490,959  —  —  —  (490,959) 
 Highways and Streets  667,019  139,374  63,244  —  (464,401) 
 Culture and Recreation  103,587  3,700  —  —  (99,887) 
 
 Total governmental activities $ 2,687,019 $ 454,625 $ 63,244 $ 23,779 $ (2,145,371) 
 
 
Changes in Net Position: 
 
                               Primary Government    
 
                Governmental    
       Activities   
 
Net (expense)/revenue                      $(2,145,371)  
General revenues: 
 Taxes: 
  Sales                          1,090,717  
  Rental tax                               50,610  
  TVA in lieu of                             156,217  
  Other taxes                             843,864  
 Intergovernmental                               13,908  
 Miscellaneous                               36,555  
 
Change in net position                               46,500 
 
Net position – beginning of year (restated – see note 10)              3,786,764  
 
Net position – end of year                      $  3,833,264  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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BALANCE SHEET – GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS    Statement 3 
 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA  

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 
           Other  Total 
     General   Bond  Governmental Governmental 
     Fund   Funds   Funds     Funds      
ASSETS 
 Cash   $ 964,079 $ 59,887 $ 40,553 $ 1,064,519 
 Accounts receivable - Intergovernmental   128,844  —  5,601  134,445 
 Accounts receivable - garbage    11,294  —  —  11,294 
 Prepaid expense    32,798  —  —  32,798 
 
 Total assets    1,137,015  59,887  46,154  1,243,056 
 
LIABILITIES AND FUND 
BALANCES 
 Liabilities: 
 Accounts payable    32,844  —  —  32,844 
 Municipal Courts payables    3,327  —  —  3,327 
 Accrued salaries and withholdings payable   7,162  —  —  7,162 
 
 Total liabilities    43,333  —  —  43,333 
 
 
 Fund balances: 
 Unspendable    32,798  —  —  32,798 
 Restricted for: 
  Road and Bridges    —  —  46,154  46,154 
     Public Welfare    392,866  —  —  392,866 
     Public Safety    1,909  —  —  1,909 
     Capital Improvement    —  10,470  —  10,470 
  Debt Service    —  49,417  —  49,417 
 Unassigned    666,109  —  —  666,109 
 
 Total fund balances    1,093,682  59,887  46,154  1,199,723 
 
 Total liabilities and fund equity   $ 1,137,015 $ 59,887 $ 46,154  
 
 
 Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position 
  are different because: 
 
  Pension liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and therefore, are not 
  reported as liabilities in government funds, nor are related deferred outflows and inflows.   33,254 
 
  Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore 
   are not reported in the funds, net of accumulated depreciation of  $4,507,500.     3,456,619 
 
  Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and 
  therefore are not reported in the funds: 
   Notes Payable        (804,907) 
   Compensated Absences       $ (51,425) 
          Total long-term liabilities (see note 6)         (856,332) 
Total net position of governmental activities (Exhibit 1)      $ 3,833,264 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,    Statement 4 
AND  CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES – GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
 
CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 
 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 
 
           Other  Total  
     General   Bond  Governmental Governmental 
     Fund   Fund   Funds        Funds      

 
REVENUES 
 Taxes   $ 2,141,408 $ — $ — $ 2,141,408   
 Licenses and permits    286,226  —  —  286,226 
 Intergovernmental    13,908  23,779  63,244  100,931 
 Charges and fees for services    143,074  —  —  143,074 
 Fines and court costs    23,181  —  —  23,181 
 Miscellaneous    36,555  2,144  —  38,699 
 
 Total revenues    2,644,352  25,923  63,244  2,733,519 
 
EXPENDITURES 
 General government    1,367,922  1,525  —  1,369,447 
 Public safety    443,686  —  —  443,686 
 Highways and street    513,827  13,385  72,517  599,729 
 Culture and recreation    21,763  —  —  21,763 
 Capital outlay    64,790  23,300  —  88,090 
 Debt service: 
  Principal    97,232  70,000  —  167,232 
  Interest and fiscal agent fees    11,644  25,616  —  37,260 
 
 Total expenditures    2,520,864  133,826  72,517  2,727,207 
 
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues    123,488  (107,903)  (9,273)  6,312 
 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
 Operating transfers in    —  99,841  —  99,841 
 Operating transfers out    (99,841)  —  —  (99,841) 
 
 Total Other Financing Sources 
 and Uses    (99,841)  99,841  —  — 
 
 
Net change in fund balances    23,647  (8,062)  (9,273)  6,312 
 
Fund Balances, October 1 (as restated – 
 see note 10)    1,070,035  67,949  55,427  1,193,411 
 
Fund Balances, September 30   $ 1,093,682 $ 59,887 $ 46,154 $ 1,199,723 
 
 

  

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF                        Statement 4 (Continued) 
REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES  
IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 
 
CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA  
 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 
 
 
 
Net changes in fund balances – total government funds (Statement 4)   $      6,312  
 
 Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of 
 Activities are different because: 
 
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures while 
 governmental activities report depreciation expense to allocate those 
 expenditures over the life of the assets: 
    Capital asset purchases capitalized     88,090 
    Depreciation expense       (175,661) 
 
Pension contributions are reported as expenditures in the funds while 
 pension expense is reported in the government-wide statements.   (39,812) 
 
Compensated absence not payable in the current period are treated) 
 as an expense in the Statement of Net Position     339 
 
Repayment of debt principal is expenditure in the governmental funds, 
 but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the Statement of 
 Net Position: 
    Principal payments       167,232 
 
 
Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities    $ 46,500 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 

 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 

 

 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The City complies with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).  GAAP includes all 

relevant Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements.  In the 

government-wide financial statements and the fund financial statements for the proprietary 

funds, Financial Account Standards Board (FASB) pronouncements and Accounting Principles 

Board (APB) opinions issued on or before November 30, 1989 have been applied unless those 

pronouncements conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements, in which case, GASB 

prevails.  For enterprise funds, GASB Statement Nos. 20 and 34 provide the City the option of 

electing to apply FASB pronouncements issued after November 30, 1989.  The City has elected 

not to apply those pronouncements.  The accounting and reporting framework and the more 

significant accounting policies are discussed in subsequent subsections of this Note.   
 

Reporting Entity: The City was incorporated under the Municipal Code Act of 1907. The City 

operates under a mayor-council form of government and provides the following services: public 

safety, street maintenance, sanitation, culture and recreation and community development.  
 

Generally accepted accounting principles require that the financial statements represent the City 

(the primary government) and its component units. Component units generally are legally 

separate entities for which a primary government is financially accountable. Financial 

accountability ordinarily involves meeting the following criteria: 1) the primary government 

appoints a voting majority of the organization’s governing body and the primary government is 

able to impose its will upon the potential component unit, or there is a possibility that the 

potential component unit may provide specific financial benefits or impose specific financial 

burdens on the primary government or 2) the potential component unit is fiscally dependent on 

the primary government. A potential component unit is considered fiscally dependent if it does 

not have the authority to do all three of the following: 1) determine its own budget without 

another government having the authority to approve and modify that budget, 2) levy taxes or set 

rates or charges without approval by another government, and 3) issue bonded debt without 

approval by another government.  
 

Based on the application of the above criteria, the City has no component unit. 

 

Basis of Presentation:   
 

Government-wide Financial Statements 

The Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities display information about the 

reporting government as a whole.  They include all funds of the reporting entity.  The statements 

distinguish between governmental and business-type activities.  Governmental activities 

generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other non-exchange 

revenues.  Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external 

parties for goods or services. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 

 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 

 

 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (continued) 

 

Fund Financial Statements 

Fund financial statements of the reporting entity are organized into funds, each of which is 

considered to be separate accounting entities.  Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate 

set of self-balancing accounts that constitute its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and 

expenditures/expenses.  Funds are organized into three major categories: governmental, 

proprietary, and fiduciary.  An emphasis is placed on major funds within the governmental and 

proprietary categories.  A fund is considered major if it is the primary operating fund of the City 

or meets the following criteria: 

 

a. Total assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures/expenses of that individual 

governmental or enterprise fund are at least 10 percent of the corresponding total for all 

funds of that category or type; and 

b. Total assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures/expenses of the individual 

governmental fund or enterprise fund are at least 5 percent of the corresponding total for 

all governmental and enterprise funds combined. 

 

Governmental Funds 

 

The funds of the financial reporting entity are described below: 

 

General Fund 

The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the City and always classified as a major 

fund.  It is used to account for all activities except those legally or administratively required to be 

accounted for in other funds. 

 

Special Revenue Funds 

Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are 

legally restricted to expenditures for certain purposes. 

 

Proprietary Funds 

 

Enterprise Fund 

 

Enterprise funds are used to account for business-like activities provided to the general public.  

These activities are financed primarily by user charges and the measurement of financial activity 

focuses on net income measurement similar to the private sector.   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 

 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 

 

 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (continued) 

 

Major and Non-major Funds 

 

The funds are further classified as major or non-major as follows: 

 

Fund    Brief Description 

Major: 

General   See above for description 

Debt Service Funds: 

Bond Fund   Trustee Accounts for payment of 2010 and 2014 Warrants. 

Non-major: 

Special Revenue Funds: 

7 Cent Gas Tax Fund  Accounts for revenues and expenditures of 7 Cent Gas Tax and                           

            other gas taxes. 

4 Cent Gas Tax Fund  Accounts for revenues and expenditures of 4 Cent Gas Tax and                           

            other gas taxes. 

 

Basis of Accounting:  Basis of accounting refers to the point at which revenues or 

expenditures/expenses are recognized in the accounts and reported in the financial statements.  It 

relates to the timing of the measurements made regardless of the measurement focus applied. 

 

1. Accrual:  Both governmental and business-type activities in the government-wide 

financial statements and the proprietary financial statements are presented on the accrual 

basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized 

when incurred. 

2. Modified Accrual:  The governmental funds financial statements are presented on the 

modified accrual basis of accounting.  Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, 

revenues are recorded when susceptible to accrual; i.e., both measurable and available.  

“Available” means collectible within the current period or within 60 days after year end.  

Expenditures are generally recognized under the modified accrual basis of accounting 

when the related liability is incurred.  The exception to this general rule is that principal 

and interest on general obligation long-term debt, if any, is recognized when due. 

 

Financial Statement Amounts: 

 

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments: Cash includes amounts in demand deposits as well as 

short-term investments with a maturity date within three months of the date acquired by the 

government. For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the proprietary fund type considers all 

highly liquid investments with maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash 

equivalents.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 

 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 

 

 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (continued) 

 

State statutes authorize the City to invest in obligations of the U. S. Treasury and securities of 

federal agencies and certificates of deposit. Generally, investments are stated at fair value.  

 

Receivables: All receivables are reported at their gross value; accordingly, no allowance for 

doubtful accounts is required. Amounts determined to be uncollectible are removed from 

accounts receivable and charged to expense as of September 30 each year.  
 

Due To and Due From Other Funds: During the course of operations, numerous transactions 

occur between individual funds for goods provided or services rendered. These receivables and 

payables are classified as “due from other funds” or “due to other funds” on the balance sheet.  
 

Inventories: Inventories are valued at cost, which approximates market, using the first-in/first-out 

(“FIFO”) method. The costs of proprietary fund type inventories are recorded as expenditures 

when consumed rather than when purchased.  
 

Prepaid Items: Payments made to vendors for services that will benefit periods beyond 

September 30, 2024, are recorded as prepaid items. 
 

Restricted Assets: Special Revenue Funds have designated resources that are to be used only to 

maintain roads and bridges.  
 

Capital Assets:  Capital assets purchased or acquired with an original cost of $5,000 or more are 

reported at historical cost or estimated historical cost.  Contributed assets are reported at fair 

market value as of the date received.  Additions, improvements, and other capital outlays that 

significantly extend the useful life of an asset are capitalized.  Other costs incurred for repairs 

and maintenance are expensed as incurred.  Depreciation on all assets is provided on the straight-

line basis over the following estimated useful lives: 
 

 Buildings     20 – 50 years 

 Water and sewer system   30 – 50 years 

 Machinery and equipment   5 – 10 years 

 Other infrastructure     10 – 50 years 

 

GASBS No. 34 required the City to report and depreciate new infrastructure assets effective with 

the beginning of the current year.  Infrastructure assets include roads, bridges, underground pipe 

(other than related to utilities), traffic signals, etc.  These infrastructure assets are likely to be the 

largest asset class of the City.  Neither their historical cost nor related depreciation has 

historically been reported in the financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 

 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 

 

 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (continued) 

 

Compensated Absences: City employees are entitled to certain compensated absences based on 

their length of employment. With minor exceptions, compensated absences either vest or 

accumulate and are accrued when they are earned.  

 

Interfund Transactions: Quasi-external transactions are accounted for as revenues, expenditures 

or expenses. Transactions that constitute reimbursements to a fund for expenditures/expenses 

initially made from it that are properly applicable to another fund are recorded as 

expenditures/expenses in the reimbursing fund and as reductions of expenditures/expenses in the 

fund that is reimbursed.  

 

All other interfund transactions, except quasi-external transactions and reimbursements, are 

reported as transfers. Nonrecurring or non-routine permanent transfers of equity are reported as 

residual equity transfers. All other interfund transfers are reported as operating transfers.  

 

Pensions - The Employee’s Retirement System of Alabama (the Plan or ERS) financial 

statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis of 

accounting.  Contributions are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of 

the Plan.  Expenses are recognized when the corresponding liability is incurred, regardless of 

when the payment is made.  Investments are reported at fair value.  Financial statements are 

prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 

(GASB).  Under these requirements, the Plan is considered a component unit of the State of 

Alabama and is included in the State’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. 

 

Net Position and Fund Equity 

In the government-wide financial statements, equity is classified as net position and displayed in 

three components: 

a. Net investment in capital assets – Consists of capital assets, including restricted 

capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding 

balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to 

the acquisitions, construction, or improvement of those assets. 

b. Restricted net position – Consists of net position with constraints placed on the use 

either by (1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or 

regulations of other governments or (2) law through constitutional provisions or 

enabling legislation. 

c. Unrestricted net position – All other net position that do not meet the definition of 

restricted or net investment in capital assets. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 

 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 

 

 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (continued) 

 

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report fund balance in classifications that 

comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which the government is bound to honor 

constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in these funds can be spent. 

 

These classifications may consist of the following: 
 

Nonspendable Fund Balance – includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are either (a) 

not in spendable form or (b) imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling 

legislation. 

 

Restricted Fund Balance – includes amounts that have constraints placed on the use of the 

resources that are either (a) externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors or laws and 

regulations of other governments or (b) imposed by law through constitutional provisions or 

enabling legislation. 

 

Committed Fund Balance – includes amounts that can only be used for specific purposes 

pursuant to constraints imposed by formal resolutions of the Town Council, the Town’s highest 

level of decision-making authority.  Commitments may be modified or removed only by the City 

Council through an adoption of resolution or ordinance, approval through motion, or some other 

formal action. 

 

Assigned Fund Balance – includes amounts that are constrained by the Town’s intent to be used 

for specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed.  The Town’s Budget Committee 

is authorized to make assignments. 

 

Unassigned Fund Balance – is represented by the residual classification of the General Fund 

balance that has not been assigned to other funds and that has not been restricted, committed, or 

assigned to specific purposes within the General Fund. 

 

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the government’s 

policy to use restricted resources first, then any committed funds, then assigned and finally 

unassigned. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 

 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 

 
 

NOTE 2 - BUDGETS AND APPROPRIATIONS  
 

The City budgetary process requires that expending agencies submit annual appropriation 

requests. The requests are combined and submitted to the Mayor and City Council. Once 

received by the City Council, a series of hearings, which are open to the public, are held and a 

final budget adopted. The final budget may be amended by the City Council throughout the year.  
 

 

NOTE 3 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS  
 

At year-end, the carrying amount of the City’s deposits with financial institutions was 

$1,064,519 and the bank balance was $1,088,911. Of these deposits, none were uninsured and 

uncollateralized. The remainder were insured or collateralized with securities held by the City’s 

agent in the City’s name 

 

NOTE 4 – CAPITAL ASSETS 

 

  Balance         Balance 

  10/01/23   Additions  Reductions   09/30/24  

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 

Capital assets not being depreciated 

 Land  $ 747,809 $ 10,000 $ — $ 757,809 

  Total capital assets not  

     being depreciated   747,809  10,000  —  757,809 
 

Capital assets being depreciated: 

 Buildings   933,681  —  —  933,681 

 Machinery and Vehicles   1,623,166  14,990  —  1,638,156 

 Furniture and Fixtures   26,956  13,300  —  40,256 

 Streets and Sidewalks   2,917,577  49,800  —  2,967,377

 Park and Playgrounds   1,626,840  —  —  1,626,840 
 

  Total capital assets being depreciated  7,128,220  78,090  —  7,206,310 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 

 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 

 

 

NOTE 4 – CAPITAL ASSETS (continued) 

 

 

  Balance         Balance 

  10/01/23   Additions  Reductions   09/30/24  

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 

  Less accumulated depreciation for: 

  Buildings   576,536  15,786  —  592,322 

  Machinery and Vehicles   1,508,445  30,705  —  1,539,150 

  Furniture and fixtures   26,956  1,900  —  28,856 

  Streets and Sidewalks   1,529,924  76,652  —  1,606,576 

  Parks and Playgrounds   689,978  50,618  —  740,596 

  Total accumulated depreciation   4,331,839  175,661  —  4,507,500 
 

  Total capital assets being depreciated, 

   net   2,796,381  (97,571)  —  2,698,810 
 

Governmental activity capital assets, 

 net   $ 3,544,190 $ (87,571) $ — $ 3,456,619 
 

 

 

Depreciation expense related to governmental activity was charged to functions as follows: 

    General Government  $ 11,247 

    Public Safety   22,800 

    Culture and Recreation   59,790 

    Highways and Street   81,824 

      $ 175,661 
 

 

 

NOTE 5 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES  
 

The City is subject to various claims and lawsuits, which arise, primarily in the ordinary course 
of operations. The City does not anticipate any significant losses with respect to such existing or 
pending claims and lawsuits at November 21, 2024.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 

NOTE 6 – LONG-TERM DEBT  
 

The following is a summary of general long-term debt transactions for the City for the year 
ended September 30, 2024: 

  Debt         Debt 

  Outstanding        Outstanding 

  10/01/23   Increases   Decreases   09/30/24  

2014 General Obligation Bond ............  $ 380,000 $ — $ (5,000) $ 375,000   

2010 General Obligation Bond ............   345,000  —  (65,000)  280,000 

2020 Bank Loan ...................................   42,929  —  (28,942)  13,987 

2021 Auto Loan ...................................   5,594  —  (5,594)  — 

2021 Bank Loan – Land Purchase .......   110,228  —  (43,870)  66,358 

2022 Bank Loan – Equipment Purchases  66,197  —  (9,646)  56,551 

2023 Bank Loan – Truck                            22,191  —  (9,180)  13,011 

 Totals ................................................  $ 972,139 $            —   $   (167,232) $ 804,907 

 
In September 2020 the City borrowed $128,925 to finance a garbage truck.  The interest rate is 
2.50% with 60 monthly payments of interest and principal in the amount of $2,290. 
 

On December 11, 2015 the City issued $430,000 general obligation bonds at 3.5% interest 
payable over 17 years with semi-annual interest payments and annual principal payments.  The 
purpose of the bond issue was capital improvements. 
 

On July 1, 2010 the City issued $1,005,000 in general obligation warrants at interest ranging 
between 0.8% to 4.0% payable over 18 years with semi-annual interest and annual principal 
payments.  The purpose of the bond issue was to currently refunding the 1994 and 2001 bond 
issues and a number of taxable bank loans. 
 

The following is a schedule of debt service requirements to maturity for governmental activities: 
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2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Thereafter Total

Principal:

2010 GO Bond 65,000        70,000      70,000       75,000    -            -             280,000     

2014 GO Bond 10,000        10,000      10,000       10,000    85,000       250,000      375,000     

2020 Bank Loan 13,987        -           -            -         -            -             13,987      

2021 Bank Loan - Land Purchase 46,708        19,650      -            -         -            -             66,358      

2022 Bank Loan - Equipment Purchases 10,344        10,929      35,278       -         -            -             56,551      

2023 Bank Loan -  Truck 9,698          3,313        -            -         -            -             13,011      

Principal Totals 155,737$     113,892$   115,278$    85,000$   85,000$     250,000$    804,907$   

For fiscal years ended September 30

 



 

  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 

 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 

NOTE 6 – LONG-TERM DEBT (continued) 

 

 
For fiscal years ended September 30  

 
2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Thereafter Total

Interest

2010 GO Bond 9,900          7,200        4,400         1,500      -            -             23,000      

2014 GO Bond 12,951        12,600      12,250       11,920    10,258       12,251        72,230      

2020 Bank Loan 366            -           -            -         -            -             366           

2021 Bank Loan - Land Purchase 3,292          957          -            -         -            -             4,249        

2022 Bank Loan - Equipment Purchases 2,856          2,271        1,686         -         -            -             6,813        

2023 Bank Loan - Truck 478            39            -            -         -            -             517           

Interest Totals 29,843$      23,067$    18,336$     13,420$   10,258$     12,251$      107,175$   

Total Debt

Requirements 185,580$   136,959$ 133,614$  98,420$ 95,258$    262,251$  912,082$ 

 
 

Thereafter:

Total Total

Principal Interest Principal Interest

2028-2032 250,000$     12,251$   250,000$    12,251$      

Total 250,000$   12,251$ 250,000$  12,251$    

For fiscal years ended September 30

2014 General Obligation

 

NOTE 7 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN  
 

General Information about the Pension Plan  
Plan Description 

The ERS, an agent multiple-employer public employee retirement plan, was established as of 

October 1, 1945, pursuant to the Code of Alabama 1975, Title 36, Chapter 27 (Act 515 of the 

Legislature of 1945). The purpose of the ERS is to provide retirement allowances and other 

specified benefits for state employees, State Police, and, on an elective basis, to all cities, 

counties, towns, and quasi-public organizations. The responsibility for the general 

administration and operation of ERS is vested in its Board of Control which consists of 13 

trustees. The Plan is administered by the Retirement Systems of Alabama (RSA). The Code of 

Alabama 1975, Title 36, Chapter 27 grants the authority to establish and amend the benefit 

terms to the ERS Board of Control. The Plan issues a publicly available financial report that can 

be obtained at www.rsa-al.gov.   
 
The ERS Board of Control consists of 15 trustees as follows: 

1) The Governor, ex officio. 

2) The State Treasurer, ex officio. 

3) The State Personnel Director, ex officio. 

4) The State Director of Finance, ex officio. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 

 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 

 

NOTE 7 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (continued)  

 

5) Three vested members of ERS appointed by the Governor for a term of four years, no 

two of whom are from the same department of state government nor from any 

department of which an ex officio trustee is the head. 

6) Eight members of ERS who are elected by members from the same category of ERS 

for a term of four years as follows: 

a. Two retired members with one from the ranks of retired state employees and 

one from the ranks of retired employees of a city, county, or a public agency 

each of whom is an active beneficiary of ERS. 

b. Two vested active state employees. 

c. One vested active employees of an employer participating in ERS pursuant to 

the Code of Alabama 1975, Section 36-27-6. 

d. One vested active employee of a participating municipality or city in ERS 

pursuant to the Code of Alabama 1975, Section 36-27-6. 

e. One vested active employee or retiree of a participating employer in ERS 

pursuant to the Code of Alabama 1975, Section 36-27-6. 

f. One vested active employee of a participating employer other than a 

municipality, city or county in ERS pursuant to the Code of Alabama 1975, 

Section 36-27-6. 

 

Benefits Provided 

 

State law establishes retirement benefits as well as death and disability benefits and any ad hoc 

increase in postretirement benefits for the ERS. Benefits for ERS members vest after 10 years of 

creditable service. State employees who retire after age 60 (52 for State Police) with 10 years or 

more of creditable service or with 25 years of service (regardless of age) are entitled to an annual 

retirement benefit, payable monthly for life. Local employees who retire after age 60 with 10 

years or more of creditable service or with 25 or 30 years of service (regardless of age), 

depending on the particular entity’s election, are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable 

monthly for life. Service and disability retirement benefits are based on a guaranteed minimum 

or a formula method, with the member receiving payment under the method that yields the 

highest monthly benefit. Under the formula method, members of the ERS (except State Police) 

are allowed 2.0125% of their average final compensation (highest 3 of the last 10 years) for each 

year of service. State Police are allowed 2.875% for each year of State Police service in 

computing the formula method.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 
 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 
 

NOTE 7 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (continued)  

 

Act 377 of the Legislature of 2012 established a new tier of benefits (Tier 2) for members hired 

on or after January 1, 2013. Tier 2 ERS members are eligible for retirement after age 62 (56 for 

State Police) with 10 years or more of creditable service and are entitled to an annual retirement 

benefit, payable monthly for life. Service and disability retirement benefits are based on a 

guaranteed minimum or a formula method, with the member receiving payment under the 

method that yields the highest monthly benefit. Under the formula method, Tier 2 members of 

the ERS (except State Police) are allowed 1.65% of their average final compensation (highest 5 

of the last 10 years) for each year of service. State Police are allowed 2.375% for each year of 

state police service in computing the formula method. 
 

Members are eligible for disability retirement if they have 10 years of credible service, are 

currently in-service, and determined by the RSA Medical Board to be permanently incapacitated 

from further performance of duty. Preretirement death benefits equal to the annual earnable 

compensation of the member as reported to the Plan for the preceding year ending September 30 

are paid to the beneficiary. 
 

The ERS serves approximately 886 local participating employers. The ERS membership includes 

approximately 108,890 participants. As of September 30, 2022, membership consisted of: 
 

  Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits  30,598 

  Terminated employees entitle to but not yet receiving benefits    2,286 

    Terminated employees not entitled to a benefit   18,689 

    Active Members       57,278 

    Post-DROP Participants still in active service                     39 

        Total              108,890 
 

Contributions 
 

Covered members of the ERS contributed 5% of earnable compensation to the ERS as required 

by statute until September 30, 2011. From October 1, 2011, to September 30, 2012, covered 

members of the ERS were required by statute to contribute 7.25% of earnable compensation. 

Effective October 1, 2012, covered members of the ERS are required by statute to contribute 

7.50% of earnable compensation. Certified law enforcement, correctional officers, and 

firefighters of the ERS contributed 6% of earnable compensation as required by statute until 

September 30, 2011. From October 1, 2011, to September 30, 2012, certified law enforcement, 

correctional officers, and firefighters of the ERS were required by statute to contribute 8.25% of 

earnable compensation. Effective October 1, 2012, certified law enforcement, correctional 

officers, and firefighters of the ERS are required by statute to contribute 8.50% of earnable 

compensation. State Police of the ERS contribute 10% of earnable compensation. ERS local 

participating employers are not required by statute to increase contribution rates for their 

members.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 
 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 
 

NOTE 7 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (continued)  
 

Tier 2 covered members of the ERS contribute 6% of earnable compensation to the ERS as 

required by statute. Tier 2 certified law enforcement, correctional officers, and firefighters of the 

ERS are required by statute to contribute 7% of earnable compensation. Tier 2 State Police 

members of the ERS contribute 10% of earnable compensation. These contributions rates are the 

same for Tier 2 covered members of ERS local participating employers.  
 

The ERS establishes rates based upon an actuarially determined rate recommended by an 

independent actuary. The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to 

finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year with additional amounts to 

finance any unfunded accrued liability, the preretirement death benefit, and administrative 

expenses of the Plan. For the year ended September 30, 2024, the City’s active employee 

contribution rate was 1.96 percent of covered employee payroll, and the City’s average 

contribution rate to fund the normal and accrued liability costs was 1.91 percent of pensionable 

payroll.   
 

City’s contractually required contribution rate for the year ended September 30, 2024, was 

4.45% of pensionable pay for Tier 1 employees, and 1.22% of pensionable pay for Tier 2 

employees. These required contribution rates are based upon the actuarial valuation as of 

September 30, 2020 a percent of annual pensionable payroll, and actuarially determined as an 

amount that, when combined with member contributions, is expected to finance the costs of 

benefits earned by members during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded 

accrued liability. Total employer contributions to the pension plan from the City were 15.817 for 

the year ended September 30, 2024.  
 

Net Pension Liability  
 

The City’s net pension liability was measured as of September 30, 2023, and the total pension 

liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as 

September 30, 2022, rolled forward to September 30, 2023 using standard roll-forward 

techniques as shown in the following table:       

    

              Expected                 Actual        

   (a) Total Pension Liability 

    as of 9/30/2022     $  1,569,678 $ 1,482,485 

   (b) Discount Rate     $        7.45% $        7.45%   $        

    Entry Age Normal Cost* 

    for 10/1/2022 – 9/30/2023    $       78,199 $      78,199        

   d) Transfers Among Employers   $             — $     (12,083)            

   e) Actual Benefit Payments  

    for 10/1/2022 – 9/30/2023    $   (125,074) $   (125,074)    

   f) Total Pension Liability 

    as of 9/30/2023 

    [(a) x (1.0775)] + (b) - [(c) x (1.03875)]  $  1,635,085 $  1,529,313     
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 
 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 
 

NOTE 7 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (continued)  

 

Actuarial Assumptions 
 

The total pension liability as of September 30, 2023 was determined based on the annual 

actuarial funding valuation report prepared as of September 30, 2022. The key actuarial 

assumptions are summarized below:  

 

Inflation   2.50% 

Projected Salary Increases 3.25%-6.0% 

Investment Rate of Return 7.45% 
*Net of pension plan investment expense. 

 

Mortality rates were based on the sex distinct RP-2000 Blue Collar Mortality Table Projected 

with Scale BB to 2020 with an adjustment of 125% at all ages for males and 120% for females 

ages 78 and older. The rates of mortality for the period after disability retirement are according 

to the sex distinct RP-2000 Disabled Retiree Mortality Table Projected with Scale BB to 2020 

with an adjustment of 130% at all ages for females. 

 

The actuarial assumptions used in the actuarial valuation as of September 30, 2019, were based 

on the results of an investigation of the economic and demographic experience for the ERS based 

upon participant data as of September 30, 2016. The Board of Control accepted and approved 

these changes in September 2017, which became effective at the beginning of fiscal year 2017. 

 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a log-

normal distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return 

(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each 

major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by 

weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by 

adding expected inflation. The target asset allocation and best estimates of geometric real rates of 

return for each major asset class are as follows: 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 
 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 
 

NOTE 7 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (continued)  

 

Discount Rate 

 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was the long term rate of return, 

7.45%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan 

member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that the employer 

contributions will be made in accordance with the funding policy adopted by the ERS Board of 

Control. Based on those assumptions, components of the pension plan’s fiduciary net position 

were projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current pan 

members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was 

applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.  

 

Changes in Net Pension Liability 
                                                                                                     Increase (Decrease)                                                     
    Total Pension Plan Fiduciary   Net Pension 
       Liability   Net Position  Liability 
            (a)   (b)        (a)-(b)     

 
Balances at 9/30/2022   $ 1,569,678 $ 1,515,812 $ 53,866 
Changes for the year: 
 Service cost    78,199  —  78,199 
 Interest    112,282  —  112,282 
 Change in assumptions    —  —  — 
 Differences between expected  
  and actual experience    (93,689)  —  (93,689) 
 Contributions - employer    —  14,287  (14,287) 
 Contributions - employee    —  43,848  (43,848) 
 Net investment income    —  191,660  (191,660) 
 Benefit payments, including refunds of 
  employee contributions    (125,074)  (125,074)  — 
 Administrative expense    —  —  — 
 Transfers among employers    (12,083)  (12,083)  — 
  Net changes    (40,365)  112,638  (153,003) 
 
Balances at 9/30/2023    $ 1,529,313 $ 1,628,450 $ (99,137) 
 

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 

The following table presents the City’s net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 

7.70%, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it 

were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower 6.45% or 1-percentage-

point higher 8.45% than the current rate: 
       1% Decrease      Current Rate   1% Increases 
            6.45%           7.45%          8.45%     

 
Town’s net pension liability   $    85,912$        (99,137)      (254,869) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 
 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 
 

 

NOTE 7 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (continued)  

 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

 

Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately 

issued RSA Comprehensive Annual Report for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023. The 

supporting actuarial information is included in the GASB Statement No. 68 Report for the ERS 

prepared as of September 30, 2023. The auditor’s report on the Schedule of Changes in Fiduciary 

Net Position by Employer and accompanying notes is also available. The additional financial and 

actuarial information is available at http://www.rsa-al.gov/index.php/employers/financial-

reports/gasb-68-reports/.  

 

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 

Related to Pensions  

 
For the year ended September 30, 2024, the City recognized pension expense of $15,817. At 
September 30, 2024, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions of the following sources: 
 
              Deferred Outflows   Deferred Inflows    
                   of Resources            of Resources          
Differences between expected  
 and actual experience   $ 6,554 $     221,891 $  
Changes of assumptions   $ 63,351 $ —  
Net difference between projected and actual 
 earnings on pension plan investments  $ 70,286 $ —  
Employer contributions subsequent 
 to the measurement date   $ 15,817 $ —  
        Total   $ 156,008 $ 221,891  
 
 

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources to 

pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows 

 

 Year ended September 30: 

 2025           (11,840) 

 2026           (15,841) 

 2027            27,662 

 2028           (46,466) 

 2029           (22,994) 

 Thereafter          (12,221) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 
 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 
 

 
 
NOTE 8 – RISK MANAGEMENT  
 
The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction 
of assets; error and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  The City has general 
liability insurance through a commercial insurance carrier.  The City also purchases commercial 
insurance for other risks of loss, including property and casualty insurance.  Settled claims 
resulting from these claims have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage in any of the past 
three years. 
 
The City has workers’ compensation insurance through the Municipal Workers’ Compensation 
Fund, a public entity risk pool.  At year-end, participants receive refunds of unused premiums 
and the related investment earnings. 
 
The City has employee health insurance coverage through the Local Government Health 
Insurance Program; administered by Blue Cross/Blue Shield which functions as a public entity 
risk pool.  This plan is self-sustaining through member premiums.  Monthly premiums are 
determined annually by the plan’s actuary and are based on the pool’s claims experience, 
considering any remaining fund balance on hand available for claims. 

 

 
NOTE 9 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

The City evaluated subsequent events through November 21, 2024, the date which the financial 

statements were available to be issued. The City did not have any subsequent events requiring 

disclosure or recording in these financial statements. 
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SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE NET PENSION LIABILITY 

 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 

   
        2023                   2022    2021    2020  
Total pension liability 
  Service Cost $  78,199 $ 73,492 $ 62,925 $ 64,330 
  Interest 112,282  112,644  117,704  112,301 
  Changes of benefit terms —  1,393  —  — 
  Differences between expected  
   and actual experience (93,689)  (40,696)  (177,006)  (3,576)
  Change of assumptions —  —  101,916  — 
  Benefit payments, including refunds of 
  employee contributions (125,074)  (152,986)  (85,516)  (120,243) 
  Transfer among employers                                  (12,083)  (12,661)  (2,918)  —
  Net change in total pension liability (40,365)  (18,814)  17,105  52,812 
  Total pension liability – beginning                   1,569,678  1,588,492  1,571,387  1,518,575 
  Total pension liability – ending (a)                 $ 1,529,313 $ 1,569,678 $ 1,588,492 $ 1,571,387 
 

 Plan fiduciary net position 
  Contributions – employer                                  $ 14,287 $ 24,779 $ 19,364 $ 11,755
  Contributions - member 43,848  43,309  43,696  43,115 
  Net investment income 191,660  (229,438)  337,169  84,523 
  Benefit payments, including refunds of 
  employee contributions (125,074)  (152,986)  (85,516)  (120,243) 
  Transfers among employers                                (12,083)  (12,661)  (2,918)  — 
  Net change in plan fiduciary net position 112,638  (326,997)  311,795  19,150
  Plan net position – beginning                           1,515,812  1,842,809  1,531,014  1,511,864 
  Total net position – ending (b)                        $ 1,628,450 $ 1,515,812 $ 1,842,809 $ 1,531,014 
 

  Net pension liability (asset)–ending (a)–(b)   $ (99,137) $ 53,866 $ (254,317) $ 40,373 
 

  Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage 
  of the total pension liability         106.48%           96.57%        116.01%               97.43% 
 

  Covered-employee payroll*                            $ 815,383 $ 877,448 $   905,723 $ 731,015 
 
  Net pension liability (asset) as a percentage 
  of covered-employee payroll (12.16)%             6.14%           (28.08)%                5.52% 
   
 
                                                   Continued 
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SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE NET PENSION LIABILITY (Continued) 

 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 

   
   
        2019                    2018    2017    2016  
Total pension liability 
  Service Cost $  62,443 $ 56,598 $ 62,703 $ 62,703 
  Interest 107,238  105,009  97,463  86,727 
  Changes of benefit terms —  —  —  — 
  Differences between expected  
   and actual experience 19,164  (23,700)  67,137  26,991 
  Change of assumptions —  6,867  —  4,545
  Benefit payments, including refunds of 
  employee contributions (126,554)  (82,466)  (92,451)  (74,688) 
  Transfer among employers                                  304  2,190  (36,372)  35,183 
  Net change in total pension liability 62,595  59,797  92,375  182,371 
  Total pension liability – beginning                   1,455,980  1,396,183  1,303,808  1,121,437 
  Total pension liability – ending (a)                 $ 1,518,575 $ 1,455,980 $ 1,396,183 $ 1,303,808 
 

 Plan fiduciary net position 
  Contributions – employer                                  $ 10,227 $ 15,412 $ 14,112 $ 19,297
  Contributions - member 40,650  37,502  33,421  35,390 
  Net investment income 38,794  1352,324  3,342  124,660 
  Benefit payments, including refunds of 
  employee contributions (126,554)  (82,466)  (92,451)  (74,688)
  Transfers among employers                                304  2,190  (36,372)  35,183
  Net change in plan fiduciary net position (36,579)  104,962  87,169  139,842
  Plan net position – beginning                           1,548,443  1,443,481  1,356,312  1,216,470 
  Total net position – ending (b)                        $ 1,511,864 $ 1,548,443 $ 1,443,481 $ 1,356,312 
 

  Net pension liability (asset)–ending (a)–(b)   $ 6,711 $ (92,463) $ (47,298) $ (52,504) 
 

  Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage 
  of the total pension liability 99.56%         106,35%         103.39%           104.3% 
 

  Covered-employee payroll*                            $ 664,511 $ 607,332 $   630,253 $   654,646 
 
  Net pension liability (asset) as a percentage 
  of covered-employee payroll        1.00%        (13.91)%              (7.79)%            (8.3)% 
 
                                                   Continued 
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SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE NET PENSION LIABILITY (Continued) 

 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 

   
    
   2015                        2014          
Total pension liability 
  Service Cost $      58,812  $ 49,177 
  Interest 84,972  — 
  Changes of benefit terms —  — 
  Differences between expected  
   and actual experience (53,634)  — 
  Change of assumptions —  — 
  Benefit payments, including refunds of 
  employee contributions (61,727)  (92,248) 
  Transfer among employers                                  —  — 
  Net change in total pension liability 28,423  34,778 
  Total pension liability – beginning                   1,093,014  1,058,236 
  Total pension liability – ending (a)                 $ 1,121,437 $ 1,093,014 
 

 Plan fiduciary net position 
  Contributions – employer                                  $ 19,239 $ 39,604 
  Contributions - member 38,724  33,152 
  Net investment income 14,285  130,329 
  Benefit payments, including refunds of 
  employee contributions (61,727)  (95,248) 
  Transfers among employers                               —  — 
  Net change in plan fiduciary net position 10,521  107,837 
  Plan net position – beginning                           1,205,949  1,098,112 
  Total net position – ending (b)                        $ 1,216,470 $ 1,205,949 
 

  Net pension liability (asset)–ending (a)–(b)   $ (95,033) $ (112,935) 
 

  Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage 
  of the total pension liability          108.47%          110.33% 
 

  Covered-employee payroll*                            $ 525,612 $ 518,787 
 
  Net pension liability (asset) as a percentage 
  of covered-employee payroll         (14.52)%         (21.49)% 
 
 
 *Employer’s covered-payroll during the measurement period is the total payroll paid to covered employees (not just 
   pensionable payroll).  For FY2024 the measurement period is October 1, 2022 – September 30, 2023.  
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SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS 

 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 

 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 
 
   
              2024              2023           2022     2021  
  Actuarially determined contribution* $ 15,817 $ 14,287 $ 24,321 $ 19,364 
  Contributions in relation to the actuarially 
  determined contribution*  15,817  14,287  24,321  19,364 
  
  Contribution deficiency (excess) $ — $ — $ — $ — 
  
  Covered-employee payroll**  808,966  815,383  877,448  905,723 
 

  Contributions as a percentage of 
  covered-employee payroll          1.96%                   1.75%             2.77%             2.14% 
 

 
 
         2020              2019               2018               2017     
  Actuarially determined contribution* $ 14,698 $ 13,788 $ 14,642 $ 9,656 
  Contributions in relation to the actuarially 
  determined contribution*  14,698  13,788  14,642  9,656 
 
  
  Contribution deficiency (excess) $ — $ — $ — $ — 
  
  Covered-employee payroll**  731,015  664,511  607,332  630,253 
 

  Contributions as a percentage of  
  covered-employee payroll           2.01%           2.07%            2.41%                   1.53% 
 

 
 
 
         2016               2015      
  Actuarially determined contribution* $ 22,673 $ 19,220 
  Contributions in relation to the actuarially 
  determined contribution*  22,673  19,220 
 
  
  Contribution deficiency (excess) $ — $ — 
  
  Covered-employee payroll**  654,646  525,612 
 

  Contributions as a percentage of  
  covered-employee payroll         3.46%          3.65% 
 

 
 *Amount of employer contributions related to normal and accrued liability components of employer rate net of any    
      refunds or error service payments.  For FY2024, the fiscal year is the twelve month period beginning after 
      6/15/2022. 
  **Employer’s covered-payroll during fiscal year is the total payroll paid to covered employees (not just pensionable 
      payroll).  For FY2024, the fiscal year is the twelve month period beginning after 6/15/2022.  
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SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS (continued) 

 

CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 

 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 
Notes to Schedule 
 
Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculates as of September 30, two years prior to the end of the fiscal year in 
which contributions are reported.  Contributions for fiscal year 2024 were based on the September 30, 2023 actuarial 
valuation. 
 
Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates: 
Actuarial cost method                                    Entry Age 
Amortization method                   Level percent closed 
Remaining amortization period                     30 years 
Asset valuation method                   Five year smoothed market 
Inflation                   2.50% 
Salary increases                   3.25 – 6.00%, including inflation 
Investment rate of return                   7.45%, net pension plan investment expense, including inflation 
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COMBINING BALANCE SHEET – NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
 
CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 
 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 
 
 
             
 
          Special Revenue         
        Total Non-major 
  7 Cent Gas   4 Cent Gas   Governmental 
  Tax Fund   Tax Fund    Funds    

 
ASSETS 
Cash  $ 20,540 $ 20,013 $ 40,553  
Due from other governments  2,286  3,315  5,601  
 
 Total assets  22,826  23,328  46,154  
 
LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable  —  —  —  
Due to other funds  —  —  —  
Total liabilities  —  —  —  
 
FUND BALANCES 
Restricted for streets  22,826  23,328  46,154  
Total fund balances  22,826  23,328  46,154  
 
 Total liabilities and 
  fund balances $ 22,826 $ 23,328 $ 46,154 
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COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN 
FUND BALANCES – NONMAJOR GOVERNMENAL FUNDS 
 
CITY OF BRIDGEPORT, ALABAMA 
 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 
 
                 Special Revenue    
        Total Non-major 
  7 Cent Gas   4 Cent Gas    Governmental 
  Tax Fund   Tax Fund    Funds    

 
REVENUES 
Intergovernmental $ 24,775 $ 38,469 $ 63,244 
 
 Total revenues  24,775  38,469  63,244  
 
EXPENDITURES 
Highways and streets  25,752  46,765  72,517 
 
Total expenditures  25,752  46,765  72,517  
 
EXCESS OF REVENUES 
 OVER(UNDER) 
 EXPENDITURES  (977)  (8,296)  (9,273)  
 

Net change in  
 Fund Balance  (977)  (8,296)  (9,273) 
 
Fund Balances, 
 October 1  23,803  31,624  55,427 
 
Fund Balances, 
 September 30 $ 22,826 $ 23,328 $ 46,154 
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The information contained in this section concerning The Depository Trust Company and its book-entry 

only system has been obtained from materials furnished by The Depository Trust Company to the City.  The City and 

the Underwriter do not make any representation or warranty as to the accuracy or completeness of such 

information. 

The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, will act as securities depository for the 

Warrants.  The Warrants will be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co., DTC’s 

partnership nominee or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  One fully-

registered Series 2025 Warrant certificate will be issued for each maturity of the Warrants, each in the aggregate 

principal amount of such maturity, and will be deposited with DTC.   

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New 

York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the 

Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, 

and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 

1934.  DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, 

corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s 

participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC.  DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct 

Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-

entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts.  This eliminates the need for physical movement 

of securities certificates.  Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, 

trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations.  DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The 

Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”).  DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities 

Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies.  DTCC 

is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries.  Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both 

U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear 

through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect 

Participants”).  DTC has a Standard & Poor’s rating of AA+.  The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on 

file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com. 

Purchases of Warrants under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will 

receive a credit for the Warrants on DTC’s records.  The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Series 

2025 Warrant (a “Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct Participants’ and Indirect Participants’ 

records.  Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase.  Beneficial Owners 

are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic 

statements of their holdings, from the Direct Participant or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner 

entered into the transaction.  Transfers of ownership interests in the Warrants are to be accomplished by entries 

made on the books of Direct Participants and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners.  Beneficial 

Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in the Warrants, except in the event that 

use of the book-entry system for the Warrants is discontinued. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Warrants deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in 

the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co. or such other name as may be requested by an authorized 

representative of DTC.  The deposit of Warrants with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such 

other DTC nominee do not affect any change in beneficial ownership.  DTC has no knowledge of the actual 

Beneficial Owners of the Warrants.  DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose 

accounts such Warrants are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners.  The Direct Participants and 

Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct 

Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial 

Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements 

as may be in effect from time to time.  Beneficial Owners of Warrants may wish to take certain steps to 

augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Warrants, such as 

redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the documents governing the terms of the 

Warrants.  For example, Beneficial Owners of Warrants may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the 

Warrants for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners.  In the alternative, 
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Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the Paying Agent and request that 

copies of notices be provided to them directly. 

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC.  If less than all of the Warrants are being redeemed, DTC’s 

practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to be redeemed. 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Warrants 

unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures.  Under its usual procedures, 

DTC mails an “Omnibus Proxy” to the City as soon as possible after the record date.  The “Omnibus Proxy” assigns 

Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Warrants are credited on 

the record date (identified in a listing attached to the “Omnibus Proxy”). 

Principal, premium and interest payments on the Warrants will be made to Cede & Co., or such other 

nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  DTC’s practice is to credit Direct 

Participants’ accounts upon receipt of funds and corresponding detail information, in accordance with their 

respective holdings shown on DTC’s records.  Payments by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to 

Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities 

held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name”, and will be the responsibility of 

Direct Participants and Indirect Participants and not of DTC, the Paying Agent or the City, subject to any statutory 

or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Payments of principal, premium (if any) and 

interest to Cede & Co. (or such other DTC nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is 

the responsibility of the Paying Agent, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the 

responsibility of DTC and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of 

Direct Participants and Indirect Participants. 

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Warrants at any time by 

giving reasonable notice to the City and the Paying Agent.  Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor 

depository is not obtained, certificates for the Warrants are required to be printed and delivered.  The City may 

decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a successor securities 

depository).  In that event, certificates for the Warrants will be printed and delivered to DTC. 

The City, the Paying Agent and the Underwriter cannot and do not give any assurances that DTC, 

the Direct Participants or the Indirect Participants will distribute to the Beneficial Owners of the Warrants 

(1) payments of principal, redemption price or interest on the Warrants; (2) certificates representing an 

ownership interest or other confirmation of beneficial ownership interests in Warrants; or (3) redemption or 

other notices sent to DTC or Cede & Co., its nominee, as the registered owner of the Warrants, or that they 

will do so on a timely basis or that DTC, Direct Participants or Indirect Participants will serve and act in the 

manner described in this Official Statement.  The current “rules” applicable to DTC are on file with the 

United States Securities and Exchange Commission, and the current “procedures” of DTC to be followed in 

dealing with DTC participants are on file with DTC. 

Neither the City, the Paying Agent nor the Underwriter will have any responsibility or obligation to 

any Direct Participant, Indirect Participant or any Beneficial Owner or any other person with respect to: (1) 

the Warrants; (2) the accuracy of any records maintained by DTC or any Direct Participant or Indirect 

Participant; (3) the payment by DTC or any Direct Participant or Indirect Participant of any amount due to 

any Beneficial Owner in respect of the principal or redemption price of or interest on the Warrants; (4) the 

delivery by DTC or any Direct Participant or Indirect Participant of any notice to any Beneficial Owner 

which is required or permitted under the terms of the Warrant Ordinance to be given to holders of the 

Warrants; (5) the selection of the Beneficial Owners to receive payment in the event of any partial 

redemption of the Warrants; or (6) any consent given or other action taken by DTC as a holder of the 

Warrants. 
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(Form of Opinion of Bond Counsel) 

 

 

 

[Closing Date] 

 

 

Holders of the Warrants 

 referred to below 

Re: $1,625,000* General Obligation Warrants, Series 2025, issued by the City of Bridgeport, 

Alabama 

We have acted as bond counsel to the City of Bridgeport, a municipal corporation organized under the laws 

of the State of Alabama (the “City”), in connection with the issuance by the City of the above-referenced warrants 

(the “Warrants”).  In such capacity, we have examined such law and such certified proceedings and other documents 

as we have deemed necessary to render this opinion. 

The Series 2025 Warrants are being issued under and pursuant to an ordinance duly adopted by the 

governing body of the City on ______________ (the “Warrant Ordinance”) and the constitution and laws of the 

State of Alabama, including particularly Section 11-47-2 of the Code of Alabama (1975), as amended. 

As to various questions of fact material to our opinion, we have relied upon the certified proceedings and 

other certificates of public officials and others furnished to us without undertaking to verify the same by independent 

investigation. 

In connection with the rendering of this opinion, we have served as counsel to the City. 

Based on the foregoing, we are of the opinion that, under existing law: 

1. The Warrant Ordinance has been duly adopted by the governing body of the City and constitutes a 

valid and binding obligation of the City enforceable against the City in accordance with the terms thereof. 

2. The Warrants have been duly authorized and executed by the City and constitute valid and binding 

orders on the City Clerk of the City for the payment thereof as therein provided.  The indebtedness evidenced by the 

Series 2025 Warrants is a general obligation of the City for the payment of which the City has validly and 

irrevocably pledged its full faith and credit.   

3. Interest on the Series 2025 Warrants is excludable from gross income for federal income tax 

purposes.  The opinion set forth in the preceding sentence is subject to the condition that the City comply with all 

requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of 

the Series 2025 Warrants in order that interest thereon be, or continue to be, excludable from gross income for 

federal income tax purposes.  The City has covenanted to comply with all such requirements.  Failure to comply 

with certain of such requirements may cause interest on the Series 2025 Warrants to be included in gross income for 

federal income tax purposes retroactive to the date of issuance of the Series 2025 Warrants. 

 

__________________________ 

*Preliminary; subject to change 
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4. Interest on the Series 2025 Warrants is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal 

alternative minimum tax.  However, interest on the Series 2025 Warrants may be taken into account for purposes of 

the alternative minimum tax imposed on applicable corporations pursuant to Section 55(b)(2) of the Internal 

Revenue Code, as amended by the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022. 

5. Interest on the Series 2025 Warrants is exempt from State of Alabama income taxation. 

We express no opinion regarding any federal or state tax consequences of acquiring, carrying, owning, or 

disposing of the Series 2025 Warrants, other than the opinions expressed in paragraphs 3, 4 and 5 above.  Owners of 

the Series 2025 Warrants should consult their tax advisors regarding the applicability of any collateral tax 

consequences of owning the Series 2025 Warrants, which may include original issue discount, original issue 

premium, purchase at a market discount or at a premium, taxation upon sale, redemption or other disposition, and 

various withholding requirements. 

The rights of the holders of the Series 2025 Warrants and the enforceability of the Series 2025 Warrants 

and the Indenture may be limited by (1) bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws 

affecting creditors’ rights and (2) general principles of equity, including the exercise of judicial discretion in 

appropriate cases. 

We express no opinion herein as to the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of the Official Statement 

relating to the Series 2025 Warrants. 

This opinion is rendered solely for your benefit.  It is not to be relied upon by any other person or for any 

other purpose.  This opinion is given as of the date hereof and we assume no obligation to update, revise or 

supplement this opinion to reflect any facts or circumstances that may hereafter come to our attention or any 

changes in law that may hereafter occur. 

       Faithfully yours, 
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